Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: February 13, 2024 ACCEPTED: April 21, 2024 PUBLISHED: May 17, 2024

Feynman rules and loop structure of Carrollian amplitudes

Wen-Bin Liu^(b), Jiang Long^(b) and Xiao-Quan Ye^(b)

School of Physics, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Luoyu Road 1037, Wuhan, Hubei 430074, China E-mail: liuwenbin0036@hust.edu.cn, longjiang@hust.edu.cn, u202010191@hust.edu.cn

ABSTRACT: In this paper, we derive the Carrollian amplitude in the framework of bulk reduction. The Carrollian amplitude is shown to relate to the scattering amplitude by a Fourier transform in this method. We propose Feynman rules to calculate the Carrollian amplitude where the Fourier transforms emerge as the integral representation of the external lines in the Carrollian space. Then we study the four-point Carrollian amplitude at loop level in massless Φ^4 theory. As a consequence of Poincaré invariance, the four-point Carrollian amplitude can be transformed to the amplitude that only depends on the cross ratio z of the celestial sphere and a variable χ invariant under translation. The four-point Carrollian amplitude is a polynomial of the two-point Carrollian amplitude whose argument is replaced with χ . The coefficients of the polynomial have branch cuts in the complex z plane. We also show that the renormalized Carrollian amplitude obeys the Callan-Symanzik equation. Moreover, we initiate a generalized Φ^4 theory by designing the Feynman rules for more general Carrollian amplitude.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Duality in Gauge Field Theories, Renormalization and Regularization

ARXIV EPRINT: 2402.04120



Contents

1	Introduction	1		
2	Preliminaries	3		
3	Poincaré transformation			
	3.1 Bulk reduction	9		
	3.2 Intrinsic derivation	14		
	3.3 Transformation of the Carrollian amplitude	15		
4	Feynman rules			
	4.1 Boundary-to-boundary propagator	18		
	4.2 External lines	23		
	4.3 Carrollian amplitudes from Feynman rules	26		
5	Four-point Carrollian amplitude	32		
	5.1 Tree level	32		
	5.2 1-loop corrections	37		
	5.3 2-loop corrections	40		
	5.4 Callan-Symanzik equation	43		
6	More Carrollian amplitudes	47		
	6.1 Description	48		
	6.2 Tree level	50		
	6.3 Loop corrections	51		
7	Conclusion and outlook	52		
Α	Doppler effect	57		
в	Split representation of the Feynman propagator	Doint Carrollian amplitude32ree level32loop corrections37loop corrections40allan-Symanzik equation43Carrollian amplitudes47vescription48ree level50oop corrections51usion and outlook52ler effect57representation of the Feynman propagator57ross ratio and s, t, u channels58uplete Gamma function and related integrals59n-Symanzik equation for two-point Carrollian amplitude61		
\mathbf{C}	The cross ratio and s, t, u channels	58		
D	Incomplete Gamma function and related integrals	59		
\mathbf{E}	Callan-Symanzik equation for two-point Carrollian amplitude	61		

1 Introduction

Flat holography has attracted much attention due to its potential connection with realistic physical processes. Up to now, there are various approaches to handle this intriguing problem. The first approach is asymptotic symmetry analysis which may trace back to the famous

BMS group [1-3]. In this approach, the boundary theory obeys the asymptotic symmetries in the bulk [4-6] and one may construct various theories based on these symmetries. In the second method, the BMS groups are identified as geometric global symmetries of a Carrollian manifold [7, 8] on which field theories can be obtained by taking the speed of light to zero [9, 10] in the usual QFTs. The third approach is based on scattering amplitude on the celestial sphere [11]. This method is motivated by the deep connections between BMS groups and soft theorems [12] in the IR region. Basically, it maps the usual S matrix by a Mellin transform and the resulting amplitude is called celestial amplitude [13, 14]. Along this line, soft theorems [15], MHV celestial gluon amplitudes [16], four-point celestial amplitudes [17, 18], and loop corrections [19-21] have been studied. Interestingly, the scattering amplitude can also be mapped to the so-called Carrollian amplitude by a simple Fourier transform [22, 23]. Therefore, there is a beautiful triangle among scattering amplitude, celestial amplitude and Carrollian amplitude. The two-point Carrollian amplitudes have been derived in [23, 24] and the three-point Carrollian amplitudes can also be found in [25, 26]. The four-point scalar Carrollian amplitudes have been studied by modified Mellin transformation [27] and have been extended to gluons and gravitons systematically in recent article [28]. It is also [28] where the name of "Carrollian amplitudes" was first suggested, and the authors also considered various properties of Carrollian amplitudes, such as the collinear limit, UV and IR behaviours. connections with twistors and so on.

In addition, the authors in [24, 29] have proposed studying flat holography through bulk reduction from well-known QFTs in asymptotically flat spacetime. The framework is to reduce the bulk theory to the null boundary by asymptotic expansion. There is always a fundamental field F which represents the radiative degree of freedom at the leading order of the fluctuation. The canonical quantization of the bulk field **f** implies the canonical quantization of the fundamental field with which one may define the quantum flux operators that form an infinite dimensional Lie algebra [24, 30–33] with central extension whose classical version is the infinitesimal (intertwined) Carrollian diffeomorphism. These impressive results indicate that the framework is correct and fruitful. Actually, it has been noted in [24] that the asymptotic state in scattering amplitude is related to the fundamental field acting on the free vacuum through a Fourier transform. It is pointed out explicitly that there may be a correspondence between the asymptotic state $|\mathbf{p}\rangle$ in the momentum space and the boundary fundamental operator $F(u, \Omega)$ in the Carrollian space

$$|\mathbf{p}\rangle \quad \leftrightarrow \quad F(u,\Omega).$$
 (1.1)

As a consequence, the scattering amplitude is mapped by a Fourier transform to the correlator of the fundamental fields which are inserted at the null boundary. In this paper, we will work out this point explicitly and derive the relation between the scattering amplitude and Carrollian amplitude from bulk reduction. We will derive the perturbative Feynman rules to obtain Carrollian amplitude in the Carrollian space. The four-point Carrollian amplitude has been studied up to two loops for massless Φ^4 theory. Amazingly, their forms are as simple as the scattering amplitudes in momentum space. We will also find a Callan-Symanzik equation for Carrollian amplitude in our method. This paper is organized as follows. In section 2, we review the framework of bulk reduction in massless scalar theory and the asymptotically free states have been created by inserting the fundamental field at the null boundary. We work out the antipodal map and derive the Carrollian amplitude from the scattering amplitude in this framework. In section 3, we will derive the transformation law of the Carrollian amplitude under Poincaré transformation. In the following section, we propose the Feynman rules to calculate the Carrollian amplitude in Carrollian space. In section 5, we study the four-point Carrollian amplitude for massless Φ^4 theory up to two-loop level. In the following section, we investigate the Carrollian amplitude in a more general Φ^4 theory. We will conclude in section 7. Technical details are relegated to several appendices.

2 Preliminaries

In this work, we will study the Carrollian amplitude in four-dimensional Φ^4 theory which is described by the action

$$S[\Phi] = \int d^4x \left[-\frac{1}{2} (\partial_\mu \Phi)^2 - \frac{\lambda}{4!} \Phi^4 \right]$$
(2.1)

in Minkowski spacetime. The signature of the metric is (-, +, +, +) and we will use x^{μ} with indices in the Greek alphabet μ, ν, \cdots to denote Cartesian coordinates. By imposing the fall-off condition

$$\Phi(t, \boldsymbol{x}) = \begin{cases} \frac{\Sigma(u, \Omega)}{r} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-2}), & \text{near } \mathcal{I}^+ \\ \frac{\Xi(v, \Omega)}{r} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-2}), & \text{near } \mathcal{I}^- \end{cases}$$
(2.2)

the theory has been reduced to the boundary [24] at future/past null infinity $(\mathcal{I}^+/\mathcal{I}^-)$. Here the coordinates u = t - r and v = t + r are the retarded and advanced time and r is the spatial distance in the bulk. We have also used $\Omega = \theta^A = (\theta, \phi)$ to denote the angular direction in spherical coordinates. In some cases, we will also use the stereographic coordinates (z, \bar{z}) for convenience.

The fundamental field $\Sigma(u, \Omega)/\Xi(v, \Omega)$ encodes the propagating degree of freedom of the bulk theory. However, we should emphasize that the fundamental field is not a dynamical scalar at the boundary since there is no constraint equation for this field. This radiative data is distinguished from the Carrollian field which obeys nontrivial equation of motion on the boundary. Although the single field $\Sigma(u, \Omega)/\Xi(v, \Omega)$ has no dynamics, the overlap between the radiative modes at \mathcal{I}^- and \mathcal{I}^+ actually defines the Carrollian amplitudes which reflect the interactions in the bulk.

Canonical quantization of the fundamental field. In the canonical quantization, the bulk field $\Phi(t, \boldsymbol{x})$ may be expanded asymptotically as plane waves

$$\Phi(t, \boldsymbol{x}) = \int \frac{d^3 \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega_p}} \left(e^{-i\omega t + i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}} b_{\boldsymbol{p}} + e^{i\omega t - i\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}} b_{\boldsymbol{p}}^{\dagger} \right)$$
(2.3)

where b_p and b_p^{\dagger} are annihilation and creation operators that satisfy the standard commutation relations

$$[b_{p}, b_{p'}^{\dagger}] = (2\pi)^{3} \delta(p - p'), \quad [b_{p}, b_{p'}] = 0, \quad [b_{p}^{\dagger}, b_{p'}^{\dagger}] = 0.$$
(2.4)

It has been shown that the field $\Phi(t, x)$ may be expanded as spherical waves such that [24]

$$\Sigma(u,\Omega) = \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega}{\sqrt{4\pi\omega}} \sum_{\ell m} [a_{\omega,\ell,m} e^{-i\omega u} Y_{\ell,m}(\Omega) + a^{\dagger}_{\omega,\ell,m} e^{i\omega u} Y^*_{\ell,m}(\Omega)]$$
(2.5)

at \mathcal{I}^+ where $Y_{\ell,m}(\Omega)$ are spherical harmonic functions on S^2 . The boundary annihilation and creation operators $a_{\omega,\ell,m}$ and $a_{\omega,\ell,m}^{\dagger}$ are related to b_p and b_p^{\dagger} through

$$a_{\omega,\ell,m} = \frac{\omega}{2\sqrt{2}\pi^{3/2}i} \int d\Omega b_{\boldsymbol{p}} Y^*_{\ell,m}(\Omega), \qquad (2.6a)$$

$$a_{\omega,\ell,m}^{\dagger} = \frac{\omega i}{2\sqrt{2}\pi^{3/2}} \int d\Omega b_{\boldsymbol{p}}^{\dagger} Y_{\ell,m}(\Omega)$$
(2.6b)

and they are labeled by three quantum numbers where ω is the frequency of the corresponding particle and ℓ, m are quantum numbers of angular momentum. The momentum p may also be written in spherical coordinates

$$\boldsymbol{p} = (\omega, \Omega). \tag{2.7}$$

The inverse transformation of (2.6) is

$$b_{\boldsymbol{p}} = \frac{2\sqrt{2}\pi^{3/2}i}{\omega} \sum_{\ell,m} a_{\omega,\ell,m} Y_{\ell,m}(\Omega), \qquad (2.8a)$$

$$b_{p}^{\dagger} = -\frac{2\sqrt{2}\pi^{3/2}i}{\omega} \sum_{\ell,m} a_{\omega,\ell,m}^{\dagger} Y_{\ell,m}^{*}(\Omega).$$
(2.8b)

We can also evaluate the commutator between the boundary fields $\Sigma(u, \Omega)$ which is of the same form as the one in [34–36] where the author developed the method of asymptotic quantization, and derived commutation relations from the asymptotic symplectic form.

Asymptotic states. Since $a_{\omega,\ell,m}$ is a linear superposition of b_p , we can define the free vacuum $|0\rangle$ by

$$b_p|0\rangle = 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad a_{\omega,\ell,m}|0\rangle = 0.$$
 (2.9)

The equation (2.6b) shows that $a^{\dagger}_{\omega,\ell,m}$ creates a state

$$|\omega,\ell,m\rangle = a^{\dagger}_{\omega,\ell,m}|0\rangle \tag{2.10}$$

from vacuum. This is also a superposition of states $|p\rangle$

$$|\omega,\ell,m\rangle = \frac{\sqrt{\omega}i}{4\pi^{3/2}} \int d\Omega Y_{\ell,m}(\Omega) |\boldsymbol{p}\rangle, \quad |\boldsymbol{p}\rangle = \sqrt{2\omega_{\boldsymbol{p}}} b_{\boldsymbol{p}}^{\dagger} |0\rangle.$$
(2.11)

We can also create a state located at (u, Ω)

$$|\Sigma(u,\Omega)\rangle = \Sigma(u,\Omega)|0\rangle = \frac{i}{8\pi^2} \int_0^\infty d\omega e^{i\omega u} |\mathbf{p}\rangle$$
(2.12)

which is an asymptotic state that represents a superposition of outgoing particles at \mathcal{I}^+ . The state $|\mathbf{p}\rangle$ can be obtained by an inverse Fourier transform

$$|\mathbf{p}\rangle = -4\pi i \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du e^{-i\omega u} |\Sigma(u,\Omega)\rangle.$$
(2.13)

For one-particle state, the completeness relation

$$1 = \int \frac{d^3 \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^3 2\omega_{\boldsymbol{p}}} |\boldsymbol{p}\rangle \langle \boldsymbol{p}|$$
(2.14)

is transformed to

$$1 = i \int du d\Omega \left(|\Sigma(u,\Omega)\rangle \langle \dot{\Sigma}(u,\Omega)| - |\dot{\Sigma}(u,\Omega)\rangle \langle \Sigma(u,\Omega)| \right).$$
(2.15)

Integrating by parts and ignoring the boundary term, the completeness relation becomes

$$1 = 2i \int du d\Omega |\Sigma(u,\Omega)\rangle \langle \dot{\Sigma}(u,\Omega)| = -2i \int du d\Omega |\dot{\Sigma}(u,\Omega)\rangle \langle \Sigma(u,\Omega)|.$$
(2.16)

The Fock space is constructed by acting the creation operators repeatedly on the vacuum state. For example, an *n*-particle outgoing state with definite momentum $|p_1p_2\cdots p_n\rangle$ is

$$|\boldsymbol{p}_1\boldsymbol{p}_2\cdots\boldsymbol{p}_n\rangle = \prod_{j=1}^n \sqrt{2\omega_{\boldsymbol{p}_j}} b_{\boldsymbol{p}_j}^{\dagger}|0\rangle.$$
(2.17)

Switching to the Carrollian space, we find

$$|\boldsymbol{p}_{1}\boldsymbol{p}_{2}\cdots\boldsymbol{p}_{n}\rangle =: \prod_{j=1}^{n} (-4\pi i) \int du_{j} e^{-i\omega_{j}u_{j}} \Sigma(u_{j},\Omega_{j}) : |0\rangle$$
$$= \int d\mu_{1,2,\cdots,n} \prod_{k=1}^{n} \Sigma(u_{k},\Omega_{k})\rangle, \qquad (2.18)$$

where the integration measure is defined as

$$d\mu_{1,2,\cdots,n} = \prod_{j=1}^{n} (-4\pi i) du_j e^{-i\omega_j u_j}.$$
 (2.19)

Note that we have inserted the normal ordering operator : \cdots : in the first line of (2.18), otherwise there will be nonvanishing functions from exchanging the positions of fundamental fields. Taking into account the multi-particle states, the completeness relation (2.15) becomes

$$1 = \sum_{n} \prod_{j=1}^{n} i \int du_{j} d\Omega_{j} \left(|\Sigma(u_{j}, \Omega_{j})\rangle \langle \dot{\Sigma}(u_{j}, \Omega_{j})| - |\dot{\Sigma}(u_{j}, \Omega_{j})\rangle \langle \Sigma(u_{j}, \Omega_{j})| \right)$$
$$= \sum_{n} \prod_{j=1}^{n} 2i \int du_{j} d\Omega_{j} |\Sigma(u_{j}, \Omega_{j})\rangle \langle \dot{\Sigma}(u_{j}, \Omega_{j})|$$
$$= \sum_{n} \prod_{j=1}^{n} (-2i) \int du_{j} d\Omega_{j} |\dot{\Sigma}(u_{j}, \Omega_{j})\rangle \langle \Sigma(u_{j}, \Omega_{j})|$$
(2.20)

where the summation is over all possible multi-particle states labeled by n.

Similarly, one may also expand $\Xi(v,\Omega)$ at \mathcal{I}^- as

$$\Xi(v,\Omega) = \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega}{\sqrt{4\pi\omega}} \sum_{\ell m} [\bar{a}_{\omega,\ell,m} e^{-i\omega v} Y_{\ell,m}(\Omega) + \bar{a}_{\omega,\ell,m}^\dagger e^{i\omega v} Y_{\ell,m}^*(\Omega)]$$
$$= \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega}{\sqrt{4\pi\omega}} \sum_{\ell,m} [(-1)^{\ell+1} e^{-i\omega v} Y_{\ell,m}(\Omega) a_{\omega,\ell,m} + (-1)^{\ell+1} e^{i\omega v} Y_{\ell,m}^*(\Omega) a_{\omega,\ell,m}^\dagger]. \quad (2.21)$$

Therefore, we may define an incoming state at \mathcal{I}^- by

$$|\Xi(v,\Omega)\rangle \equiv \Xi(v,\Omega)|0\rangle = -\frac{i}{8\pi^2} \int_0^\infty d\omega e^{i\omega v} |\boldsymbol{p}^P\rangle, \qquad (2.22)$$

where the momentum p^P is defined by

$$\boldsymbol{p}^{P} = (\omega, \Omega^{P}) \tag{2.23}$$

in the spherical coordinates with Ω^P the antipodal point of $\Omega = (\theta, \phi)$

$$\Omega^P = (\pi - \theta, \pi + \phi). \tag{2.24}$$

Therefore, we may transform the state $|v,\Omega\rangle$ to its corresponding antipodal state via

$$|\Xi(v,\Omega^P)\rangle = \Xi(v,\Omega^P)|0\rangle = -\frac{i}{8\pi^2} \int_0^\infty d\omega e^{i\omega v} |\mathbf{p}\rangle.$$
(2.25)

Hence, an incoming state with definite momentum p at \mathcal{I}^- can be written as

$$|\mathbf{p}\rangle = 4\pi i \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dv e^{-i\omega v} |\Xi(v, \Omega^P)\rangle.$$
(2.26)

An *n*-particle incoming state $|\boldsymbol{p}_1\boldsymbol{p}_2\cdots\boldsymbol{p}_n\rangle$ is

$$|\boldsymbol{p}_{1}\boldsymbol{p}_{2}\cdots\boldsymbol{p}_{n}\rangle =: \prod_{j=1}^{n} (4\pi i) \int dv_{j} e^{-i\omega_{j}v_{j}} \Xi(v_{j}, \Omega_{j}^{P}) : |0\rangle$$
$$= \int d\nu_{1,2,\cdots,n} |\prod_{j=1}^{n} \Xi(v_{j}, \Omega_{j}^{P})\rangle$$
(2.27)

where

$$d\nu_{1,2,\cdots,n} = \prod_{j=1}^{n} (4\pi i) dv_j e^{-i\omega_j v_j}.$$
 (2.28)

Carrollian amplitude. Now we consider the $m \to n$ scattering process

$$\operatorname{out} \langle \boldsymbol{p}_{m+1} \boldsymbol{p}_{m+2} \cdots \boldsymbol{p}_{m+n} | \boldsymbol{p}_1 \boldsymbol{p}_2 \cdots \boldsymbol{p}_m \rangle_{\operatorname{in}} = \langle \boldsymbol{p}_{m+1} \boldsymbol{p}_{m+2} \cdots \boldsymbol{p}_{m+n} | S | \boldsymbol{p}_1 \boldsymbol{p}_2 \cdots \boldsymbol{p}_m \rangle.$$
(2.29)

The S matrix can also be transformed to Carrollian space using (2.18) and (2.29)

$$\begin{split} \langle \boldsymbol{p}_{m+1} \boldsymbol{p}_{m+2} \cdots \boldsymbol{p}_{m+n} | S | \boldsymbol{p}_1 \boldsymbol{p}_2 \cdots \boldsymbol{p}_m \rangle \\ &= \int d\mu_{m+1,\cdots,m+n}^* d\nu_{1,\cdots,m} \langle \prod_{k=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma(u_k,\Omega_k) | S | \prod_{k=1}^m \Xi(v_k,\Omega_k^P) \rangle \\ &= \int d\mu_{m+1,\cdots,m+n}^* d\nu_{1,\cdots,m} \operatorname{out} \langle \prod_{k=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma(u_k,\Omega_k) | \prod_{k=1}^m \Xi(v_k,\Omega_k^P) \rangle_{\operatorname{int}} \end{split}$$

where we have defined

$$\operatorname{out} \langle \prod_{k=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma(u_k, \Omega_k) | \prod_{k=1}^m \Xi(v_k, \Omega_k^P) \rangle_{\operatorname{in}} = \langle \prod_{k=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma(u_k, \Omega_k) | S | \prod_{k=1}^m \Xi(v_k, \Omega_k^P) \rangle.$$
(2.30)

Inversely, we will find the $m \to n$ Carrollian amplitude as the Fourier transform of the scattering amplitude

$$\sup \left\langle \prod_{k=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma(u_k, \Omega_k) \right| \prod_{k=1}^m \Xi(v_k, \Omega_k^P) \rangle_{\text{in}}$$

$$= \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^2 i} \right)^{m+n} \int d\omega_1 \cdots d\omega_{m+n} e^{-i \sum_{j=m+1}^{m+n} \omega_j u_j + i \sum_{j=1}^m \omega_j v_j} \langle \boldsymbol{p}_{m+1} \boldsymbol{p}_{m+2} \cdots \boldsymbol{p}_{m+n} | S | \boldsymbol{p}_1 \boldsymbol{p}_2 \cdots \boldsymbol{p}_m \rangle.$$

$$(2.31)$$

On the left-hand side, the Carrollian amplitude may be understood as (m+n)-point correlators with m fields $\Xi(v, \Omega)$ inserted at $(v_1, \Omega_1^P), \dots, (v_m, \Omega_m^P)$ and n fields $\Sigma(u, \Omega)$ inserted at $(u_{m+1}, \Omega_{m+1}), \dots, (u_{m+n}, \Omega_{m+n})$, respectively. On the right-hand side, it is the Fourier transformation of the $m \to n$ scattering matrix. Note that we derive this relation by the standard method of QFT without using any knowledge of flat holography or asymptotic symmetry. One may also transform it to celestial amplitude by Mellin transformation, though we will not elaborate on it in this work. In the expression, we may redefine

$$u_j = v_j \quad \text{for} \quad j = 1, 2, \cdots, m.$$
 (2.32)

At the same time, we transform Ω_j^P , $j = 1, 2, \dots, m$ to their antipodal points Ω_j and relabel

$$\Sigma(u,\Omega) = \Xi(v,\Omega^P). \tag{2.33}$$

Note that the above identification may be obtained by comparing (2.12) with (2.22) up to a constant phase.¹ Since the phase factor is irrelevant in S matrix, we will not care about it later. Then the Carrollian amplitude may be written in a more familiar form

$$\sup \langle \prod_{k=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma(u_k, \Omega_k) | \prod_{k=1}^m \Sigma(u_k, \Omega_k) \rangle_{in}$$

= $\left(\frac{1}{8\pi^2 i} \right)^{m+n} \prod_{j=1}^{m+n} \int d\omega_j e^{-i\sigma_j \omega_j u_j} \langle \boldsymbol{p}_{m+1} \boldsymbol{p}_{m+2} \cdots \boldsymbol{p}_{m+n} | S | \boldsymbol{p}_1 \boldsymbol{p}_2 \cdots \boldsymbol{p}_m \rangle$ (2.34)

with

$$p_j^{\mu} = \sigma_j \omega_j n_j^{\mu}, \quad j = 1, 2, \cdots, m+n$$
 (2.35)

where n_j^{μ} is the null vector associated with *j*-th particle

$$n_j^{\mu} = (1, \sin \theta_j \cos \phi_j, \sin \theta_j \sin \phi_j, \cos \theta_j).$$
(2.36)

The symbol $\sigma_j, j = 1, 2, \dots, m + n$ is designed to distinguish the outgoing and incoming states through the relation

$$\sigma_j = \begin{cases} +1 & \text{outgoing state,} \\ -1 & \text{incoming state.} \end{cases}$$
(2.37)

¹In these expressions, the phase is $e^{i\pi} = -1$.

The S matrix may be factorized as

$$S = 1 + iT \tag{2.38}$$

where the T matrix denotes the connected part and it should respect the 4-momentum conservation. Therefore, one may extract a Lorentz invariant matrix element \mathcal{M} by [37]

$$\langle \boldsymbol{p}_{m+1}\boldsymbol{p}_{m+2}\cdots\boldsymbol{p}_{m+n}|iT|\boldsymbol{p}_1\boldsymbol{p}_2\cdots\boldsymbol{p}_m\rangle = (2\pi)^4\delta^{(4)}\bigg(\sum_{j=1}^{m+n}p_j\bigg)i\mathcal{M}(p_1,p_2,\cdots,p_{m+n}).$$
(2.39)

Therefore, we may reduce the Carrollian amplitude to the \mathcal{M} matrix which is related to the amputated and connected Feynman diagrams

$$\sup_{\substack{\text{out} \\ m+n \\ m$$

We will also write this Carrollian amplitude as (m+n)-point correlator for the boundary Carrollian field theory [23, 28]

$$\langle \prod_{j=1}^{m+n} \Sigma_j(u_j, \Omega_j; \sigma_j) \rangle = (\frac{1}{8\pi^2 i})^{m+n} \prod_{j=1}^{m+n} \int d\omega_j e^{-i\sigma_j \omega_j u_j} (2\pi)^4 \delta^{(4)} \Big(\sum_{j=1}^{m+n} p_j \Big) i \mathcal{M}(p_1, p_2, \cdots, p_{m+n}).$$
(2.41)

On the left-hand side, we add a label σ_j for each operator to denote the incoming or outgoing state. The Carrollian amplitude (2.41) is a function in the Carrollian space

$$C(u_1, \Omega_1, \sigma_1; u_2, \Omega_2, \sigma_2; \cdots; u_{m+n}, \Omega_{m+n}, \sigma_{m+n}) \equiv \langle \prod_{j=1}^{m+n} \Sigma_j(u_j, \Omega_j; \sigma_j) \rangle.$$
(2.42)

Without causing confusion, we may abbreviate the $m \to n$ Carrollian amplitude as

$$C(m \to n) = C(u_1, \Omega_1, \sigma_1; u_2, \Omega_2, \sigma_2; \cdots; u_{m+n}, \Omega_{m+n}, \sigma_{m+n}).$$
(2.43)

In figure 1, we draw the picture of $m \to n$ Carrollian amplitude.

Unitarity. Since the S matrix is unitary, we find

$$S^{\dagger}S = 1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad -i(T - T^{\dagger}) = T^{\dagger}T.$$
 (2.44)

Usually, we may use momentum representation to express the above identity. Instead, we may consider the scattering from the state $|\prod_{j=1}^{m} \Sigma(u_j, \Omega_j)\rangle$ to $|\prod_{j=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma(u_j, \Omega_j)\rangle$. The unitarity condition (2.44) becomes

$$\langle \prod_{j=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma(u_j,\Omega_j) | (-i)(T-T^{\dagger}) | \prod_{j=1}^m \Sigma(u_j,\Omega_j) \rangle = \langle \prod_{j=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma(u_j,\Omega_j) | T^{\dagger}T | \prod_{j=1}^m \Sigma(u_j,\Omega_j) \rangle.$$
(2.45)



Figure 1. Carrollian amplitude in Penrose diagram. There are m operators inserted at \mathcal{I}^- which correspond to the incoming states in the past and n operators inserted at \mathcal{I}^+ which correspond to the outgoing states in the future. The overlap between the in and out states is shown in the shaded region, which corresponds to the S matrix due to bulk interactions. Carrollian amplitude is actually the scattering amplitude in Carrollian space. The operator Ξ located at (v, Ω^P) is identified as an operator Σ with position (u, Ω) . With the antipodal map, the Carrollian amplitude is written as the correlator at the null boundary.

By inserting the completeness relation (2.20), we find

$$C(m \to n) + C^*(n \to m) = -\sum_k \left(\prod_{j=1}^k 2i \int du_j d\Omega_j\right) C^*(n \to k) \left(\prod_{j=1}^k \frac{\partial}{\partial u_j}\right) C(m \to k).$$
(2.46)

This is the unitarity of the S matrix in Carrollian space whose momentum space representation may be found in the textbook [37]. Note that the relative sign on the left-hand side is positive since C corresponds to $i\mathcal{M}$ in our notation.

3 Poincaré transformation

In this section, we will use two methods to derive the transformation law of the Carrollian amplitude (2.41) under Poincaré transformations.

3.1 Bulk reduction

In this method, the transformation law of the bulk scalar field is

$$\Phi'(x') = \Phi(x) \tag{3.1}$$

under bulk Poincaré transformations.² The Poincaré transformation is the semidirect product of Lorentz transformation and spacetime translation.

Spacetime translation. For the spacetime translation

$$x'^{\mu} = x^{\mu} + a^{\mu} \tag{3.2}$$

parameterized by a constant vector $a^{\mu} = (a^0, a^i)$, the coordinate r becomes

$$r' = \sqrt{x'^2} = \sqrt{(\boldsymbol{x} + \boldsymbol{a})^2} = r\sqrt{1 + 2\boldsymbol{n} \cdot \boldsymbol{a} + (\boldsymbol{n} \cdot \boldsymbol{a})^2}$$
(3.3)

where

$$\boldsymbol{n} = \frac{\boldsymbol{x}}{r} = (\sin\theta\cos\phi, \sin\theta\sin\phi, \cos\theta) \tag{3.4}$$

is the unit normal vector of S^2 . At large distances, we may find the following expansion of r'

$$r' = r + \boldsymbol{n} \cdot \boldsymbol{a} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1}). \tag{3.5}$$

Similarly, the retarded and advanced time transform as

$$u' = t' - r' = u - a \cdot n + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1}), \tag{3.6a}$$

$$v' = t' + r' = v + a \cdot \bar{n} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1})$$
 (3.6b)

where

$$n^{\mu} = (1, n^{i}), \quad \bar{n}^{\mu} = (-1, n^{i})$$
(3.7)

are null vectors and their scalar product is $n \cdot \bar{n} = 2$. The transformation of the spherical angle $\Omega' = (\theta', \phi')$ may be equivalently described by the transformation of the unit vector $n \to n'$

$$\boldsymbol{n}' = \boldsymbol{n} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1}). \tag{3.8}$$

Therefore, the spherical angle is invariant under spacetime translation in the large r expansion

$$\Omega' = \Omega + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1}). \tag{3.9}$$

Combining with fall-off condition (2.2), we obtain the following spacetime translation of the boundary field

$$\Sigma'(u',\Omega') = \Sigma(u,\Omega), \quad u' = u - a \cdot n, \quad \Omega' = \Omega, \tag{3.10a}$$

$$\Xi'(v', \Omega') = \Xi(v, \Omega), \quad v' = v + a \cdot \bar{n}, \quad \Omega' = \Omega.$$
(3.10b)

The spacetime translation can also induce the transformation of the state

$$|\Sigma(u,\Omega)\rangle \to |\Sigma'(u',\Omega')\rangle = |\Sigma(u,\Omega)\rangle \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad |\Sigma'(u,\Omega)\rangle = |\Sigma(u+a\cdot n,\Omega)\rangle, \tag{3.11a}$$

$$|\Xi(v,\Omega)\rangle \to |\Xi'(v',\Omega')\rangle = |\Xi(v,\Omega)\rangle \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad |\Xi'(v,\Omega)\rangle = |\Xi(v-a\cdot\bar{n},\Omega)\rangle. \tag{3.11b}$$

²Actually, this transformation is also valid for general bulk diffeomorphisms.

Lorentz transformation. Similarly, for the Lorentz transformation

$$x^{\prime\mu} = \Lambda^{\mu}_{\ \nu} x^{\nu}, \qquad \Lambda^{\mu}_{\ \nu} \Lambda^{\rho}_{\ \sigma} \eta_{\mu\rho} = \eta_{\nu\sigma}, \qquad (3.12)$$

we find

$$r' = r |\Lambda^{i}{}_{\mu}n^{\mu}| + u \frac{\Lambda^{i}{}_{\mu}n^{\mu}\Lambda^{i}{}_{0}}{|\Lambda^{i}{}_{\nu}n^{\nu}|} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1}), \qquad (3.13a)$$

$$u' = u \left(\Lambda^{0}_{\ 0} - \frac{\Lambda^{i}_{\ \mu} n^{\mu} \Lambda^{i}_{0}}{|\Lambda^{i}_{\nu} n^{\nu}|} \right) + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1}), \tag{3.13b}$$

$$n'^{i} = \frac{\Lambda^{i}{}_{\mu}n^{\mu}}{|\Lambda^{i}{}_{\nu}n^{\nu}|} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1})$$
(3.13c)

for the retarded coordinates near \mathcal{I}^+ and

$$r' = r |\Lambda^{i}{}_{\mu} \bar{n}^{\mu}| + v \frac{\Lambda^{i}{}_{\mu} \bar{n}^{\mu} \Lambda^{i}{}_{0}}{|\Lambda^{i}{}_{\nu} \bar{n}^{\nu}|} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1}), \qquad (3.14a)$$

$$v' = v \left(\Lambda^0_{\ 0} + \frac{\Lambda^i_{\ \mu} \bar{n}^{\mu} \Lambda^i_0}{|\Lambda^i_{\nu} \bar{n}^{\nu}|} \right) + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1}), \tag{3.14b}$$

$$n^{\prime i} = \frac{\Lambda^{i}_{\mu} \bar{n}^{\mu}}{|\Lambda^{i}_{\nu} \bar{n}^{\nu}|} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1})$$
(3.14c)

for the advanced coordinates near \mathcal{I}^- . We have defined the following norms in these expressions

$$|\Lambda^{i}{}_{\mu}n^{\mu}| = (\Lambda^{i}{}_{\mu}\Lambda^{i}{}_{\nu}n^{\mu}n^{\nu})^{1/2}, \quad |\Lambda^{i}{}_{\mu}\bar{n}^{\mu}| = (\Lambda^{i}{}_{\mu}\Lambda^{i}{}_{\nu}\bar{n}^{\mu}\bar{n}^{\nu})^{1/2}.$$
(3.15)

Using the identities

$$|\Lambda^{i}{}_{\mu}n^{\mu}| = \Lambda^{0}{}_{\mu}n^{\mu}, \qquad |\Lambda^{i}{}_{\mu}n^{\mu}| \left(\Lambda^{0}{}_{0} - \frac{\Lambda^{i}{}_{\rho}n^{\rho}\Lambda^{i}{}_{0}}{|\Lambda^{i}_{\nu}n^{\nu}|}\right) = 1,$$
(3.16a)

$$|\Lambda^{i}{}_{\mu}\bar{n}^{\mu}| = -\Lambda^{0}{}_{\mu}\bar{n}^{\mu}, \quad |\Lambda^{i}{}_{\mu}\bar{n}^{\mu}| \left(\Lambda^{0}{}_{0} + \frac{\Lambda^{i}{}_{\rho}\bar{n}^{\rho}\Lambda^{i}{}_{0}}{|\Lambda^{i}{}_{\nu}\bar{n}^{\nu}|}\right) = 1,$$
(3.16b)

the transformations of the coordinates become

$$r' = \Lambda^{0}_{\ \mu} n^{\mu} r + \mathcal{O}(1) \tag{3.17a}$$

$$u' = \frac{1}{\Lambda^0_{\ \mu} n^{\mu}} u + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1}),$$
 (3.17b)

$$n'^{i} = \frac{\Lambda^{i}{}_{\mu}n^{\mu}}{|\Lambda^{i}{}_{\nu}n^{\nu}|} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1})$$
(3.17c)

near \mathcal{I}^+ and

$$r' = -\Lambda^{0}_{\ \mu} \bar{n}^{\mu} r + \mathcal{O}(1), \qquad (3.18a)$$

$$v' = -\frac{1}{\Lambda_{\mu}^{0}\bar{n}^{\mu}}v + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1}),$$
 (3.18b)

$$n'^{i} = \frac{\Lambda^{i}{}_{\mu}\bar{n}^{\mu}}{|\Lambda^{i}{}_{\nu}\bar{n}^{\nu}|} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1})$$
(3.18c)

near \mathcal{I}^- . The Lorentz transformation can be decomposed into spatial rotation and Lorentz boost. We will discuss these two cases explicitly in the following.

1. For a general spatial rotation around an axis ℓ ($\ell^2 = 1$) with any angle φ , one can find the transformation matrix (Rodrigues' rotation formula [38])

$$\Lambda_{ij}(\ell,\varphi) = \delta_{ij}\cos\varphi + \ell_i\ell_j(1-\cos\varphi) - \epsilon_{ijk}\ell^k\sin\varphi.$$
(3.19)

Besides spatial components, there are other components related to time direction

$$\Lambda^{0}{}_{j}(\boldsymbol{\ell},\varphi) = \Lambda^{j}{}_{0}(\boldsymbol{\ell},\varphi) = 0, \qquad \Lambda^{0}{}_{0}(\boldsymbol{\ell},\varphi) = 1.$$
(3.20)

Under such a rotation, we find

$$u' = u, \qquad r' = r, \tag{3.21}$$

$$n^{\prime i} = n^{i} \cos \varphi + \boldsymbol{\ell} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \ \ell^{i} (1 - \cos \varphi) + (\boldsymbol{\ell} \times \boldsymbol{n})^{i} \sin \varphi.$$
(3.22)

One can calculate the factor

$$\Gamma(\boldsymbol{\ell},\varphi) \equiv \Lambda^{0}{}_{\mu}(\boldsymbol{\ell},\varphi)n^{\mu} = 1, \qquad (3.23)$$

and

$$\Gamma^{i}(\boldsymbol{\ell},\varphi) \equiv \Lambda^{i}{}_{\mu}(\boldsymbol{\ell},\varphi)n^{\mu} = n^{i}\cos\varphi + \boldsymbol{\ell}\cdot\boldsymbol{n} \ \ell^{i}(1-\cos\varphi) + (\boldsymbol{\ell}\times\boldsymbol{n})^{i}\sin\varphi.$$
(3.24)

It is easy to find that $\Gamma^i \Gamma_i$ equals Γ^2 . With such a definition, the coordinate transformation becomes

$$r' = r + \mathcal{O}(1), \qquad u' = u + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1}), \qquad n' = \Gamma + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1}).$$
 (3.25)

For advanced coordinates, it is easy to compute the Weyl factor of such a rotation

$$\bar{\Gamma}(\boldsymbol{\ell},\varphi) = -\Lambda^0_{\ \mu}(\boldsymbol{\ell},\varphi)\bar{n}^{\mu} = 1, \qquad (3.26)$$

$$\bar{\Gamma}^{i}(\boldsymbol{\ell},\varphi) = \Lambda^{i}{}_{\mu}(\boldsymbol{\ell},\varphi)\bar{n}^{\mu} = n^{i}\cos\varphi + \boldsymbol{\ell}\cdot\boldsymbol{n}\ell^{i}(1-\cos\varphi) + (\boldsymbol{\ell}\times\boldsymbol{n})^{i}\sin\varphi, \qquad (3.27)$$

and therefore

$$v' = v, \qquad r' = r, \qquad n'^i = n^i \cos \varphi + \boldsymbol{\ell} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \ell^i (1 - \cos \varphi) + (\boldsymbol{\ell} \times \boldsymbol{n})^i \sin \varphi.$$
 (3.28)

2. For a Lorentz boost which is parameterized by a velocity β ,

$$t' = \gamma(t - \boldsymbol{\beta} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}), \qquad (3.29a)$$

$$\mathbf{r}' = \mathbf{r} + (\gamma - 1) \frac{\boldsymbol{\beta} \cdot \mathbf{r}}{\beta^2} \boldsymbol{\beta} - \gamma \boldsymbol{\beta} t,$$
 (3.29b)

the transformation (3.17) is reduced to

$$u' = \frac{u}{\gamma(1 - \boldsymbol{\beta} \cdot \boldsymbol{n})} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1}), \qquad (3.30a)$$

$$r' = \gamma (1 - \boldsymbol{\beta} \cdot \boldsymbol{n})r + \mathcal{O}(1), \qquad (3.30b)$$

$$\boldsymbol{n}' = \frac{\boldsymbol{n} + (\gamma - 1)\frac{\boldsymbol{\beta} \cdot \boldsymbol{n}}{\boldsymbol{\beta}^2} \boldsymbol{\beta} - \gamma \boldsymbol{\beta}}{\gamma(1 - \boldsymbol{\beta} \cdot \boldsymbol{n})} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1})$$
(3.30c)

which is consistent with [39, 40]. Note that γ is the Lorentz factor

$$\gamma = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \beta^2}} \tag{3.31}$$

and we may use it to define the redshift factor

$$\Gamma \equiv \gamma (1 - \boldsymbol{\beta} \cdot \boldsymbol{n}) \tag{3.32}$$

for a light propagating in the direction n and detected by a moving observer with constant velocity β . Please find more details in appendix A.

Based on the previous discussion, we can define a redshift factor

$$\Gamma = \Lambda^0_{\ \mu} n^\mu \tag{3.33}$$

associated with any Lorentz transformation. We will also use the notation

$$\Gamma^i = \Lambda^i{}_\mu n^\mu \tag{3.34}$$

whose norm is the redshift factor

$$\Gamma = |\Gamma^i| = \sqrt{\Gamma^2}.\tag{3.35}$$

There is also a similar redshift factor at \mathcal{I}^-

$$\bar{\Gamma} = -\Lambda^0_{\ \mu} \bar{n}^{\mu}, \qquad \bar{\Gamma}^i = \Lambda^i_{\ \mu} \bar{n}^{\mu}. \tag{3.36}$$

Recalling the fall-off condition (2.2), we can find the finite transformation of the boundary field under general Lorentz transformations. More explicitly, the fundamental field at \mathcal{I}^+ transforms as

$$\Sigma'(u',\Omega') = \Gamma\Sigma(u,\Omega) \tag{3.37}$$

with

$$u' = \Gamma^{-1}u, \quad \boldsymbol{n}' = \Gamma^{-1}\boldsymbol{\Gamma}.$$
(3.38)

The state $|\Sigma(u,\Omega)\rangle$ transforms to another state $|\Sigma'(u',\Omega')\rangle$

$$|\Sigma'(u',\Omega')\rangle = \Gamma|\Sigma(u,\Omega)\rangle.$$
(3.39)

In a similar way, the fundamental field at \mathcal{I}^- transforms as

$$\Xi'(v',\Omega') = \bar{\Gamma}\Xi(v,\Omega) \tag{3.40}$$

with

$$v' = \bar{\Gamma}^{-1}v, \quad \boldsymbol{n}' = \bar{\Gamma}^{-1}\bar{\Gamma}. \tag{3.41}$$

We also find the transformation of the state

$$|\Xi'(v',\Omega')\rangle = \bar{\Gamma}|\Xi(v,\Omega)\rangle.$$
(3.42)

3.2 Intrinsic derivation

The transformation laws (3.37) and (3.40) can also be obtained in an intrinsic way from boundary Carrollian field theory. A Carrollian field $\Sigma(u, \Omega)$ with weight 1/2 will transform as [32]

$$-\delta_{f,Y}\Sigma(u,\Omega) = f(u,\Omega)\dot{\Sigma}(u,\Omega) + Y^{A}(\Omega)\nabla_{A}\Sigma(u,\Omega) + \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{A}Y^{A}(\Omega)\Sigma(u,\Omega)$$
(3.43)

under infinitesimal Carrollian diffeomorphism which is generated by the vector

$$\boldsymbol{\xi}_{f,Y} = f(u,\Omega)\partial_u + Y^A(\Omega)\partial_A. \tag{3.44}$$

For a general supertranslation which is generated by

$$\boldsymbol{\xi}_f = f(u, \Omega)\partial_u, \tag{3.45}$$

we can find the finite transformation of the field Σ

$$\Sigma'(u',\Omega') = \Sigma(u,\Omega) \tag{3.46}$$

where

$$u' = \mathcal{F}(u, \Omega), \qquad \Omega' = \Omega.$$
 (3.47)

The function $\mathcal{F}(u,\Omega)$ is generated by the vector $\boldsymbol{\xi}_f$ through the exponential map

$$\mathcal{F}(u,\Omega) = e^{f(u,\Omega)\partial_u}u \tag{3.48}$$

such that the infinitesimal variation of the coordinate u is

$$\delta u = u' - u = \epsilon f(u, \Omega) + \cdots \tag{3.49}$$

where ϵ is a bookkeeping factor.

For a special superrotation which is generated by

$$\boldsymbol{\xi}_Y = Y^A(\Omega)\partial_A,\tag{3.50}$$

the finite transformation of the field Σ has been found in [32]

$$\Sigma(u,\Omega) \to \Sigma'(u',\Omega') = \left|\frac{\partial\Omega'}{\partial\Omega}\right|^{-1/2} \left(\frac{\det\gamma(\Omega)}{\det\gamma(\Omega')}\right)^{1/4} \Sigma(u,\Omega), \qquad (3.51)$$

where $|\frac{\partial \Omega'}{\partial \Omega}|$ is the Jacobian under finite special superrotation

$$(u,\Omega) \to (u',\Omega') \tag{3.52}$$

with

$$u' = u, \quad \Omega' = \Omega'(\Omega). \tag{3.53}$$

We will also denote the pre-factor as the Weyl factor

$$W = \left|\frac{\partial\Omega'}{\partial\Omega}\right|^{-1/2} \left(\frac{\det\gamma(\Omega)}{\det\gamma(\Omega')}\right)^{1/4}.$$
(3.54)

Under the infinitesimal transformation

$$\theta'^A = \theta^A + \epsilon Y^A, \tag{3.55}$$

we find

$$W = \left| \delta_B^A + \epsilon \partial_B Y^A \right|^{-1/2} \left(\frac{\det \gamma}{\det \gamma (1 + 2\epsilon \Gamma_{CA}^C Y^A)} \right)^{1/4}$$
$$= 1 - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon \partial_A Y^A - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon \Gamma_{CA}^C Y^A$$
$$= 1 - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon \nabla_A Y^A. \tag{3.56}$$

The bulk Lorentz transformation reduces to the Carrollian diffeomorphism $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{f,Y}$ with

$$f(u,\Omega) = \frac{1}{2}u\nabla_A Y^A(\Omega) \tag{3.57}$$

where $Y^A(\Omega)$ is a conformal Killing vector (CKV) of S^2 which satisfies the conformal Killing equation

$$\nabla_A Y_B + \nabla_B Y_A = \gamma_{AB} \nabla_C Y^C. \tag{3.58}$$

Therefore, the finite Lorentz transformation of Σ is

$$\Sigma'(u',\Omega') = W\Sigma(u,\Omega) \tag{3.59}$$

where

$$u' = W^{-1}u, \quad \Omega' = \Omega'(\Omega).$$
 (3.60)

To check this point, we calculate the infinitesimal variation of the scalar field

$$\delta_{\epsilon}\Sigma(u,\Omega) = \Sigma'(u,\Omega) - \Sigma(u,\Omega)$$

$$\approx W\Sigma(Wu,\Omega-\epsilon Y) - \Sigma(u,\Omega)$$

$$\approx \left(1 - \frac{1}{2}\epsilon\nabla_{A}Y^{A}\right)\Sigma\left(u - \frac{u}{2}\epsilon\nabla_{C}Y^{C},\Omega-\epsilon Y\right) - \Sigma(u,\Omega)$$

$$\approx -\frac{1}{2}\epsilon u\nabla_{C}Y^{C}\dot{\Sigma} - \epsilon Y^{A}\nabla_{A}\Sigma - \frac{1}{2}\epsilon\nabla_{C}Y^{C}\Sigma.$$
(3.61)

This is exactly the variation (3.43) with $f = \frac{1}{2}u\nabla_A Y^A$.

3.3 Transformation of the Carrollian amplitude

Spacetime translation. As has been shown, the finite spacetime translation is

$$u' = u - a \cdot n, \quad \Omega' = \Omega \tag{3.62}$$

in retarded coordinates. Therefore, we can write down the identity for the Carrollian amplitude under finite spacetime translation³

$$\langle \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Sigma_j(u'_j, \Omega_j) \rangle = \langle \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Sigma_j(u_j, \Omega_j) \rangle, \quad u'_j = u_j - a \cdot n_j.$$
(3.63)

³We use the short notation $\Sigma(u, \Omega) = \Sigma(u, \Omega; \sigma)$ unless it is necessary to distinguish between incoming and outgoing states.

To prove this identity, we note that the \mathcal{M} matrix is invariant under spacetime translation, and recall the relation between the \mathcal{M} matrix and Carrollian amplitude (2.41), then

$$\langle \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Sigma(u'_{j}, \Omega_{j}) \rangle = \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}i}\right)^{n} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \int d\omega_{j} e^{-i\sigma_{j}\omega_{j}u'_{j}} (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{j}\right) i\mathcal{M}(p_{1}, \cdots, p_{n})$$

$$= \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}i}\right)^{n} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \int d\omega_{j} e^{-i\sigma_{j}\omega_{j}(u_{j}-a\cdot n_{j})} (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{j}\right) i\mathcal{M}(p_{1}, \cdots, p_{n})$$

$$= \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}i}\right)^{n} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \int d\omega_{j} e^{-i\sigma_{j}\omega_{j}u_{j}+ia\cdot p_{j}} (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{j}\right) i\mathcal{M}(p_{1}, \cdots, p_{n})$$

$$= \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}i}\right)^{n} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \int d\omega_{j} e^{-i\sigma_{j}\omega_{j}u_{j}+ia\cdot p_{j}} (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{j}\right) i\mathcal{M}(p_{1}, \cdots, p_{n})$$

$$(3.64)$$

At the last step, we have used the definition of the null momentum (2.35). Due to the conservation of the external momentum

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} p_j = 0, \tag{3.65}$$

the phase factors $e^{i a \cdot p_j}$ are canceled and the Carrollian amplitude is invariant under spacetime translation

$$\langle \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Sigma(u'_{j}, \Omega_{j}) \rangle = \langle \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Sigma(u_{j}, \Omega_{j}) \rangle = \langle \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Sigma'(u'_{j}, \Omega_{j}) \rangle.$$
(3.66)

Lorentz transformation. Note that the form of the transformation (3.37) is exactly the same as (3.59), provided the following matching condition

$$\Gamma = W. \tag{3.67}$$

Since both of the redshift factor and the Weyl factor are generated by Lorentz transformations, we only need to find the correspondence between the infinitesimal transformations. When Y^A is a Killing vector of S^2 , it will obey the equation $\nabla_A Y^A = 0$ which means that the Weyl factor is always 1. This matches with the redshift factor for pure spatial rotations. Now we will focus on the Lorentz boost. It is generated by a strictly CKV and the corresponding redshift factor is

$$\Gamma \approx 1 - \boldsymbol{\beta} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \tag{3.68}$$

for infinitesimal β . This is the same as the Weyl factor (3.56) with the identification

$$\boldsymbol{\beta} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = \epsilon \nabla_A Y^A. \tag{3.69}$$

By choosing β along the *i*-th direction

$$\boldsymbol{\beta} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = 2\epsilon n_i, \tag{3.70}$$

the equation (3.69) is satisfied by the identity

$$2n_i = \nabla_A Y_i^A \tag{3.71}$$

where Y_i^A is the *i*-th strictly CKV defined in [24].

Stereographic coordinates. The redshift (Weyl) factor can be written down explicitly by stereographic coordinates (z, \bar{z}) which is related to the spherical coordinates by

$$z = \cot \frac{\theta}{2} e^{i\phi}, \quad \bar{z} = \cot \frac{\theta}{2} e^{-i\phi}.$$
 (3.72)

The corresponding metric would be

$$ds_{S^2}^2 = \frac{4}{(1+z\bar{z})^2} dz d\bar{z}.$$
(3.73)

The Lorentz transformation does not change the metric of S^2 at the null boundary, except that the stereographic coordinates become (z', \bar{z}') . It is well-known that the Lorentz transformation SO(1,3) induces a Möbius transformation SL(2, \mathbb{C}) on S^2

$$z' = \frac{az+b}{cz+d}, \quad ad-bc = 1.$$
 (3.74)

Substituting into the definition of Weyl factor (3.54), we find

$$\Gamma = W = \frac{|az+b|^2 + |cz+d|^2}{1+z\bar{z}} = \frac{1+|z'|^2}{|a-cz'|^2 + |b-dz'|^2} = \frac{(1+|z'|^2)|cz+d|^2}{1+|z|^2}.$$
 (3.75)

We will calculate the redshift factor for three special Möbius transformations below.

1. The transformation from z = 0 to z'. The corresponding redshift factor is

$$\Gamma = |d|^2 (1 + |z'|^2). \tag{3.76}$$

2. The transformation from z = 1 to z'. The corresponding redshift factor is

$$\Gamma = \frac{1}{2}|c+d|^2(1+|z'|^2).$$
(3.77)

3. The transformation from $z = \infty$ to z'. The corresponding redshift factor is

$$\Gamma = |c|^2 (1 + |z'|^2). \tag{3.78}$$

Transformation law of Carrollian amplitudes. Now we can prove the following identity for the Carrollian amplitude under finite Lorentz transformation

$$\langle \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Sigma_j(u'_j, \Omega'_j) \rangle = \left(\prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma_j \right) \langle \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Sigma_j(u_j, \Omega_j) \rangle.$$
(3.79)

Using stereographic coordinates, this is

$$\left\langle \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Sigma_{j}(u'_{j}, z'_{j}, \bar{z}'_{j}) \right\rangle = \left(\prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma_{j} \right) \left\langle \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Sigma_{j}(u_{j}, z_{j}, \bar{z}_{j}) \right\rangle$$
(3.80)

where

$$u'_{j} = \Gamma_{j}^{-1}u_{j}, \quad z'_{j} = \frac{az_{j} + b}{cz_{j} + d}, \quad \Gamma_{j} = \frac{|az_{j} + b|^{2} + |cz_{j} + d|^{2}}{1 + z_{j}\bar{z}_{j}}.$$
(3.81)

Note that the momentum $\boldsymbol{p} = (\omega, \Omega)$ is transformed to a new one

$$p^{\prime \mu} = \Lambda^{\mu}_{\ \nu} p^{\nu} \tag{3.82}$$

under Lorentz transformation. This is equivalent to

$$\mathbf{p}' = (\omega', \Omega'), \quad \text{with} \quad \omega' = \omega \Lambda^0_{\ \mu} n^{\mu} = \Gamma \omega, \quad \Omega' = \Omega'(\Omega).$$
 (3.83)

Using (2.41), we find

$$\left\langle \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Sigma(u'_{j}, \Omega'_{j}) \right\rangle = \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}i} \right)^{n} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \int d\omega_{j} e^{-i\sigma_{j}\omega_{j}u'_{j}} (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \tilde{p}_{j} \right) i \mathcal{M}(\tilde{p}_{1}, \cdots, \tilde{p}_{n}), \tag{3.84}$$

where \tilde{p}_j is the four-momentum associated with the three momentum

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{p}}_j = (\omega_j, \Omega'_j) \tag{3.85}$$

Note that $\tilde{p}_j \neq p_j$ since we have just replaced the coordinates (u_j, Ω_j) in (3.84). Now we use the relation $u'_j = \Gamma_j^{-1} u_j$, change the integration variable ω_j to $\omega'_j = \Gamma_j \omega_j$, and combine with the invariance of the \mathcal{M} matrix under Lorentz transformations, then

$$\langle \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Sigma(u'_{j}, \Omega'_{j}) \rangle = \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}i} \right)^{n} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \int d\omega'_{j} e^{-i\sigma_{j}\omega'_{j}u'_{j}} (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} p'_{j} \right) i \mathcal{M}(p'_{1}, \cdots, p'_{n})$$

$$= \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}i} \right)^{n} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \int d\omega_{j} \Gamma_{j} e^{-i\sigma_{j}\omega_{j}u_{j}} (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{j} \right) i \mathcal{M}(p_{1}, \cdots, p_{n})$$

$$= \left(\prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma_{j} \right) \langle \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Sigma(u_{j}, \Omega_{j}) \rangle.$$

$$(3.86)$$

4 Feynman rules

In this section, we will derive the Feynman rules in Carrollian space to compute the Carrollian amplitude perturbatively. Given (2.41), this is not necessary since we already know the Feynman rules in momentum space to calculate the *S* matrix even though the additional Fourier transform lacks a diagram interpretation. However, as we will show, the Feynman rule in Carrollian space fits nicely with the Fourier transformation in Carrollian amplitude (2.41). From a more practical point of view, there are some advantages to evaluating Feynman diagrams in configuration space, e.g., GPXT method [41].

4.1 Boundary-to-boundary propagator

We will start with the two-point Carrollian amplitude which is shown in figure 2. In this diagram, we insert one operator $\Xi(v_1, \Omega_1)$ at \mathcal{I}^- and another operator $\Sigma(u_2, \Omega_2)$ at \mathcal{I}^+ . Therefore, with the relation (2.12) and (2.22), the two-point Carrollian amplitude would be

$$\sum_{\text{out}} \langle \Sigma(u_2, \Omega_2) | \Xi(v_1, \Omega_1) \rangle_{\text{in}} = \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^2 i} \right)^2 \int_0^\infty d\omega_2 e^{-i\omega_2 u_2} \int_0^\infty d\omega_1 e^{i\omega_1 v_1} \langle \boldsymbol{p}_2 | \boldsymbol{p}_1^P \rangle$$
$$= -\beta (u_2 - v_1) \delta(\Omega_1^P - \Omega_2).$$
(4.1)



Figure 2. Boundary-to-boundary propagator in Penrose diagram: from \mathcal{I}^- to \mathcal{I}^+ .

In the second line, we used the normalization

$$\langle \boldsymbol{p}_2 | \boldsymbol{p}_1 \rangle = (2\pi)^3 2\omega_1 \delta^{(3)} (\boldsymbol{p}_1 - \boldsymbol{p}_2)$$
(4.2)

and defined the function $\beta(u)$ as

$$\beta(u) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega}{\omega} e^{-i\omega(u-i\epsilon)}.$$
(4.3)

Note that (4.1) can be rewritten as

$$\operatorname{out} \langle \Sigma(u_2, \Omega_2) | \Xi(v_1, \Omega_1^P) \rangle_{\text{in}} = -\beta (u_2 - v_1) \delta(\Omega_1 - \Omega_2).$$

$$(4.4)$$

After the replacement

$$\Xi(v_1, \Omega_1^P) \to \Sigma(u_1, \Omega_1), \tag{4.5}$$

we obtain the following boundary-to-boundary propagator

$$C(u_1, \Omega_1, -; u_2, \Omega_2, +) \equiv \langle \Sigma(u_2, \Omega_2) | \Sigma(u_1, \Omega_1) \rangle = -\beta(u_2 - u_1)\delta(\Omega_1 - \Omega_2).$$
(4.6)

Still, this is a boundary-to-boundary propagator from \mathcal{I}^- to \mathcal{I}^+ , although the coordinates are both retarded coordinates. Similarly, there would be another form which is represented by advanced coordinates. All the expressions are related to each other by the antipodal map.

Regularization. The $\beta(u)$ function is infrared divergent which comes from the infrared degrees of freedom in the definition of the boundary state

$$|\Sigma(u,\Omega)\rangle = \frac{i}{8\pi^2} \int_0^\infty d\omega e^{i\omega u} |\mathbf{p}\rangle.$$
(4.7)

We may separate the infrared degrees of freedom by introducing an IR cutoff $\omega_0 > 0$ by redefining

$$|\Sigma(u,\Omega;\omega_0)\rangle \equiv \frac{i}{8\pi^2} \int_{\omega_0}^{\infty} d\omega e^{i\omega u} |\mathbf{p}\rangle = \frac{i}{8\pi^2} \int_0^{\infty} d\omega e^{i\omega u} \Theta(\omega - \omega_0) |\mathbf{p}\rangle, \tag{4.8}$$

where we have inserted a step function into the integrand. Therefore, the boundary-toboundary propagator is modified to

$$C(u_{1},\Omega_{1},-,u_{2},\Omega_{2},+;\omega_{0}) \equiv \langle \Sigma(u_{2},\Omega_{2};\omega_{0})|\Sigma(u_{1},\Omega_{1};\omega_{0})\rangle$$

$$= \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}i}\right)^{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega_{2}e^{-i\omega_{2}u_{2}}\Theta(\omega_{2}-\omega_{0}) \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega_{1}e^{i\omega_{1}u_{1}}\Theta(\omega_{1}-\omega_{0})\langle \boldsymbol{p}_{2}|\boldsymbol{p}_{1}\rangle$$

$$= -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega}{\omega}\Theta(\omega-\omega_{0})e^{-i\omega(u_{2}-u_{1})}\delta(\Omega_{1}-\Omega_{2})$$

$$= \frac{1}{4\pi}\Gamma[0,i\omega_{0}(u_{2}-u_{1}-i\epsilon)]\delta(\Omega_{1}-\Omega_{2})$$
(4.9)

where $\Gamma(0, x)$ is the incomplete Gamma function which is reviewed in appendix D. We have inserted a small positive constant $\epsilon \to 0^+$ to guarantee the convergence of the integration. In the limit $\omega_0 \to 0^+$, we find

$$C(u_1, \Omega_1, -; u_2, \Omega_2, +; \omega_0) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \left(\gamma_E + \log i\omega_0 (u_2 - u_1 - i\epsilon) \right) \equiv -\frac{1}{4\pi} I_0(u_2 - u_1). \quad (4.10)$$

The Euler constant γ_E may be absorbed into the IR cutoff ω_0 . Note that the IR cutoff is introduced by regularizing the divergent integral (4.3) in [24] which is a bit ad hoc. However, the treatment here is to modify the $\Sigma(u, \Omega)$ by $\Sigma(u, \Omega; \omega_0)$ such that the infrared modes are automatically discarded in the definition. Imagine that one inserts an operator at the position u with some uncertainty δu . Then by the Heisenberg uncertainty principle, there will be a lower bound $\omega_0 \sim \frac{1}{\delta u}$ on the fluctuation of the energy. It is natural to insert a step function $\Theta(\omega - \omega_0)$ in (4.8). Note that we have defined the function

$$I_0(u) = \gamma_E + \log i\omega_0(u - i\epsilon) \tag{4.11}$$

which is essentially the regularized $\beta(u)$ function.

Poincaré invariance. The two-point Carrollian amplitude is fixed by Poincaré invariance. The spacetime translation invariance implies

$$C(u_1,\Omega_1;u_2,\Omega_2) = \langle \Sigma(u_2,\Omega_2)\Sigma(u_1,\Omega_1) \rangle = \langle \Sigma(u_2 - a \cdot n_2,\Omega_2)\Sigma(u_1 - a \cdot n_1,\Omega_1) \rangle$$
(4.12)

where a^{μ} is a constant vector. By choosing $a^{\mu} = (1, 0, 0, 0)$, we find

$$C(u_1, \Omega_1; u_2, \Omega_2) = \langle \Sigma(u_2 + a, \Omega_2) \Sigma(u_1 + a, \Omega_1) \rangle = C(u_1 + a; \Omega_1, u_2 + a, \Omega_2).$$
(4.13)

This implies that the two-point Carrollian amplitude only depends on the difference $u_2 - u_1$

$$C(u_1, \Omega_1; u_2, \Omega_2) = C(0, \Omega_1; u_2 - u_1, \Omega_2) = C(u_1 - a \cdot n_1, \Omega_1; u_2 - a \cdot n_2, \Omega_2)$$

= $C(0, \Omega_1; u_2 - u_1 - a \cdot (n_2 - n_1), \Omega_2).$ (4.14)

Since the Carrollian amplitude is independent of the arbitrary constant a, the two-point Carrollian amplitude is nonvanishing only for $\Omega_1 = \Omega_2$, otherwise we have

$$C(u_1, \Omega_1; u_2, \Omega_2) = 0, \quad \Omega_1 \neq \Omega_2.$$

$$(4.15)$$

This implies

$$C(u_1, \Omega_1; u_2, \Omega_2) = g(u_1 - u_2)\delta(\Omega_1 - \Omega_2).$$
(4.16)

$$-20 -$$

The function g(u) should be independent of Ω , otherwise the two-point Carrollian amplitude would depend on the angular direction. Now the Lorentz invariance of the Carrollian amplitude (3.79) can be written as

$$\langle \Sigma(u_2, \Omega'_2) \Sigma(u_1, \Omega'_1) \rangle = \Gamma_1 \Gamma_2 \langle \Sigma(\Gamma_2 u_2, \Omega_2) \Sigma(\Gamma_1 u_1, \Omega_1) \rangle.$$
(4.17)

This is equivalent to

$$g(u_1 - u_2)\delta(\Omega'_1 - \Omega'_2) = \Gamma_1^2 g(\Gamma_1(u_1 - u_2))\delta(\Omega_1 - \Omega_2)$$
(4.18)

By definition, the Lorentz transformation does not change the metric,

$$\gamma_{AB}'(\Omega) = \gamma_{AB}(\Omega). \tag{4.19}$$

Therefore, the Lorentz transformation of the Dirac delta function is

$$\delta(\Omega_1' - \Omega_2') = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\det \gamma'(\Omega')}} \delta(\theta_1' - \theta_2') \delta(\phi_1' - \phi_2') = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\det \gamma(\Omega')}} \frac{\partial \Omega'}{\partial \Omega} \delta(\theta_1 - \theta_2) \delta(\phi_1 - \phi_2)$$

which implies

$$\delta(\Omega_1' - \Omega_2') = \Gamma_1^2 \delta(\Omega_1 - \Omega_2). \tag{4.20}$$

The function g(u) should be invariant under Lorentz transformation

$$g(u) = g(\Gamma u). \tag{4.21}$$

This is only possible for

$$g(u) = \text{const.} \tag{4.22}$$

without introducing any energy scale. By introducing an IR cutoff ω_0 , the function g(u) may be written as

$$g(u) = N \times \log \omega_0 u \tag{4.23}$$

since the redshift factor Γ may be absorbed into the cutoff ω_0 , leaving the function g invariant. Here the normalization is denoted as N. The result is consistent with the perturbative calculation.

Primary scalar operators. We will discuss more on this two-point Carrollian amplitude. Considering a boundary primary scalar operator $V(u, \Omega)$ at the boundary with conformal weight h under SL(2, \mathbb{C}), the infinitesimal transformation of the field $V(u, \Omega)$ under Lorentz transformation is

$$-\delta_Y V(u,\Omega) = \frac{1}{2} u \nabla_C Y^C \dot{V}(u,\Omega) + Y^A \nabla_A V(u,\Omega) + h \nabla_C Y^C V(u,\Omega)$$
(4.24)

whose finite transformation is [32]

$$V'(u',\Omega') = \Gamma^{2h}V(u,\Omega).$$
(4.25)

The Carrollian amplitude should satisfy the conditions

$$\langle \prod_{j=1}^{n} V_j(u'_j, \Omega_j) \rangle = \langle \prod_{j=1}^{n} V_j(u_j, \Omega_j) \rangle$$
(4.26)

for spacetime translation $u' = u - a \cdot n$ and

$$\langle \prod_{j=1}^{n} V_j(u'_j, \Omega'_j) \rangle = \left(\prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma_j^{2h_j} \right) \langle \prod_{j=1}^{n} V_j(u_j, \Omega_j) \rangle$$
(4.27)

for Lorentz rotation (3.81). In these expressions, the conformal weight of the primary field V_i is h_i under SL(2, \mathbb{C}). Similar to the previous discussion, the two-point Carrollian amplitude is fixed to

$$\langle V_1(u_1,\Omega_1)V_2(u_2,\Omega_2)\rangle = \frac{C_{h_1,h_2}}{(u_1-u_2)^{2(h_1+h_2)-2}}\delta(\Omega_1-\Omega_2)$$
(4.28)

where C_{h_1,h_2} is the normalization constant. Note that C_{h_1,h_2} is not necessarily proportional to δ_{h_1,h_2} . As an example, we consider the previous massless scalar field and define the *u*-descendants

$$V_n(u,\Omega) = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial u}\right)^n \Sigma(u,\Omega).$$
(4.29)

It is easy to find its conformal weight

$$h = \frac{1+n}{2}.$$
 (4.30)

Obviously, the correlator

$$\langle V_n(u,\Omega)V_{n'}(u',\Omega')\rangle$$
 (4.31)

is nonvanishing even for $n \neq n'$.

Note that the two-point Carrollian amplitude would increase for $h_1 + h_2 < 1$ when $|u_1 - u_2|$ increases. We may rule out this case since it indicates a strong correlation between two operators which are "far away" from each other. For $h_1 + h_2 = 1$, the two-point Carrollian amplitude is also divergent logarithmically. However, we will allow the logarithmic divergence since it appears in previous examples. Therefore, we find a lower bound for the conformal weights

$$h_1 + h_2 \ge 1 \tag{4.32}$$

which leads to

$$h \ge \frac{1}{2} \tag{4.33}$$

when $h_1 = h_2 = h$.

Before we close this section, we will emphasize the invariance of the metric (4.19). Note that the invariance comes from the Lorentz invariance of the Minkowski spacetime in four dimensions, which contrasts with the intrinsic Möbius transformation of S^2 . To see this point, the intrinsic Möbius transformation of the metric is

$$\gamma_{AB}^{\prime}(\Omega^{\prime})\frac{\partial\theta^{\prime A}}{\partial\theta^{C}}\frac{\partial\theta^{\prime B}}{\partial\theta^{D}} = \gamma_{\rm CD}(\Omega).$$
(4.34)



Figure 3. External line in Penrose diagram: from bulk to \mathcal{I}^+ . There is a similar external line from bulk to \mathcal{I}^- .

The metric γ_{AB} is invariant under pure spatial rotations. On the other hand, it is only invariant under conformal transformations up to a scaling factor. This confirms that the transformation law of the metric of the Carrollian manifold is different from the usual coordinate transformation. Actually, the invariance of the metric (4.19) has been imposed as an indispensable ingredient to define covariant variation for the theory with nonvanishing helicity [30, 31, 33]. Here we emphasize that the invariance of the metric has already appeared implicitly for scalar theory.

4.2 External lines

The external line from bulk to \mathcal{I}^+ is shown in figure 3. We insert one operator Σ at \mathcal{I}^+ with position (u, Ω) and draw a line to connect it with a bulk field Φ located at x. Then the external line may be defined as

$$D_{+}(u,\Omega;x) = \langle 0|\Sigma(u,\Omega)\Phi(x)|0\rangle.$$
(4.35)

With the mode expansion (2.3) and (2.12), we can easily obtain

$$D_{+}(u,\Omega;x) = -\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}(u+n\cdot x-i\epsilon)}.$$
(4.36)

Here the null vector n^{μ} is determined by the angular coordinate as before

$$n^{\mu} = (1, \sin\theta\cos\phi, \sin\theta\sin\phi, \cos\theta). \tag{4.37}$$

Interestingly, the external line is invariant under spacetime translation

$$u \to u - a \cdot n, \quad x \to x + a.$$
 (4.38)

We may also insert an operator Ξ at \mathcal{I}^- with position (v, Ω) and connect it with a bulk field Φ whose position is x. Then we define the external line from \mathcal{I}^- to bulk

$$D_{-}(x;v,\Omega) = \langle 0|\Phi(x)\Xi(v,\Omega)|0\rangle = \frac{1}{8\pi^{2}(v-\bar{n}\cdot x+i\epsilon)}.$$
(4.39)

This external line is also invariant under spacetime translation

$$v \to v + a \cdot \bar{n}, \quad x \to x + a.$$
 (4.40)

We still replace (v, Ω) to (u, Ω^P) and the external line (4.39) becomes

$$D_{-}(x;u,\Omega) = \frac{1}{8\pi^{2}(u+n\cdot x+i\epsilon)}.$$
(4.41)

We find the unified formula⁴

$$D_{\sigma}(u,\Omega;x) = -\frac{\sigma}{8\pi^2(u+n\cdot x - i\sigma\epsilon)}$$
(4.42)

where σ is +1 for outgoing particles and -1 for incoming particles. The two external lines are related by the complex conjugate

$$D_{+}(u,\Omega;x) = -(D_{-}(x;u,\Omega))^{*}.$$
(4.43)

We may also separate the infrared modes as (4.8) and define the modified external line

$$D_{+}(u,\Omega;x;\omega_{0}) = \langle 0|\Sigma(u,\Omega;\omega_{0})\Phi(x)|0\rangle = -\frac{e^{-i\omega_{0}(u+n\cdot x)}}{8\pi^{2}(u+n\cdot x-i\epsilon)}.$$
(4.44)

After inserting the signature σ to distinguish outgoing and incoming states, we find

$$D_{\sigma}(u,\Omega;x;\omega_0) = -\frac{\sigma e^{-i\sigma\omega_0(u+n\cdot x)}}{8\pi^2(u+n\cdot x-i\sigma\epsilon)}.$$
(4.45)

In the following, we may abbreviate D_{σ} to D when it causes no confusion.

Bulk-to-boundary propagator. The external line may be used to reconstruct the bulk field. To see this point, we define the state

$$|\Phi(x)\rangle = \Phi(x)|0\rangle. \tag{4.46}$$

Then by inserting the completeness relation (2.20) and ignoring all the multi-particle states, we find

$$\begin{split} |\Phi(x)\rangle &= -2i \int du d\Omega |\dot{\Sigma}(u,\Omega)\rangle \langle \Sigma(u,\Omega) |\Phi(x)\rangle \\ &= -2i \int du d\Omega |\dot{\Sigma}(u,\Omega)\rangle D(u,\Omega;x). \end{split}$$
(4.47)

⁴If we take into account the phase $e^{i\pi}$ in the antipodal map, the external line may be simplified to

$$D_{\sigma} = -\frac{1}{8\pi^2(u+n\cdot x - i\sigma\epsilon)}.$$



Figure 4. The contour C is the combination of the real u axis and a half circle with radius $R \to \infty$ in the upper complex u plane.

For $\sigma = +$, the outgoing state (2.12) is a superposition of modes $e^{i\omega u}$ with $\omega > 0$. Therefore, the integrand of (4.47) decays exponentially in the upper complex u plane. We may choose a contour C (seeing figure 4) to include the pole $u = -n \cdot x + i\epsilon$ and use the residue theorem to evaluate the u integration and thus

$$|\Phi(x)\rangle = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int d\Omega |\dot{\Sigma}(u = -n \cdot x, \Omega)\rangle.$$
(4.48)

This is the Kirchhoff-d'Adhémar formula [42] which has also been derived in [23]. For $\sigma = -$, we find the same formula using the antipodal map and the convention $p^{\mu} = -\omega n^{\mu}$ for incoming states. It is obvious that there could be more contributions since we only include the one particle state in the derivation. We will not discuss the corrections in this work. Integration by parts in (4.47), we obtain

$$|\Phi(x)\rangle = 2i \int du d\Omega \partial_u D(u,\Omega;x) |\Sigma(u,\Omega)\rangle.$$
(4.49)

We define the bulk-to-boundary propagator $K_{\sigma}(u,\Omega;x)$ as

$$K_{\sigma}(u,\Omega;x) = \underbrace{(u,\Omega)}^{\bullet} x = 2i\langle \dot{\Sigma}(u,\Omega)\Phi(x)\rangle = 2i\partial_u D(u,\Omega;x)$$
$$= \frac{i\sigma}{4\pi^2(u+n\cdot x - i\sigma\epsilon)^2}$$
(4.50)

which is shown in figure 5, and thus we have

$$|\Phi(x)\rangle = \int du d\Omega K_{\sigma}(u,\Omega;x)|\Sigma(u,\Omega)\rangle.$$
(4.51)

The bulk-to-boundary propagator $K_{\sigma}(u, \Omega; x)$ is slightly different from the one defined in [23] (denoted by $P(u, \Omega; x)$). This is fine since only the part with creation operators contributes to the state $|\Phi(x)\rangle$ by definition. On the other hand, the field $\Phi(x)$ in [23] has more contributions from the annihilation operators. However, one should note that the bulk-to-boundary propagator (4.50) leads to the same Kirchhoff-d'Adhémar formula (4.48). Actually, the bulk-to-boundary propagator $P(u, \Omega; x) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \partial_u \delta(u + n \cdot x)$ is related to ours by

$$P(u,\Omega;x) = K_{+}(u,\Omega;x) + K_{-}(u,\Omega;x).$$
(4.52)



Figure 5. Bulk-to-boundary propagator in Penrose diagram: from bulk to \mathcal{I}^+ . There is a similar bulk-to-boundary propagator from bulk to \mathcal{I}^- .

To check this point, we use the formula

$$\frac{1}{A \pm i\epsilon} = \mathcal{P}\left(\frac{1}{A}\right) \mp i\pi\delta(A) \tag{4.53}$$

and rewrite the right-hand side as

$$r.h.s. = \frac{i}{4\pi^2} \left[\frac{1}{(u+n\cdot x-i\epsilon)^2} - \frac{1}{(u+n\cdot x+i\epsilon)^2} \right]$$
$$= -\frac{i}{4\pi^2} \partial_u \left[\frac{1}{u+n\cdot x-i\epsilon} - \frac{1}{u+n\cdot x+i\epsilon} \right]$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \partial_u \delta(u+n\cdot x).$$
(4.54)

4.3 Carrollian amplitudes from Feynman rules

The Feynman rules in the bulk are the same as those for the bulk theory. These include the Feynman propagators and vertices, as well as symmetry factors. Combining with the previous Feynman rules which connect the bulk and boundary, we will summarize the Feynman rules to compute the Carrollian amplitudes. We will omit the null boundary in the Feynman diagrams.

• For each state, we define a signature σ

$$\sigma = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{outgoing state} \\ -1 & \text{incoming state} \end{cases}$$
(4.55)

• For each boundary-to-boundary propagator,

$$(u_1, \Omega_1) \quad (u_2, \Omega_2) = C(u_1, \Omega_1; u_2, \Omega_2) = -\beta(u_2 - u_1)\delta(\Omega_1 - \Omega_2)$$
(4.56)

or

$$C(u_1, \Omega_1; u_2, \Omega_2; \omega_0) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \Gamma[0, i\omega_0(u_2 - u_1 - i\epsilon)]$$
(4.57)

by discarding the infrared modes.

• For each external line,

$$(u,\Omega) \qquad x = D(u,\Omega;x) = -\frac{\sigma}{8\pi^2(u+n\cdot x - i\sigma\epsilon)}$$
(4.58)

or

$$D(u,\Omega;x;\omega_0) = -\frac{\sigma e^{-i\sigma\omega_0(u+n\cdot x)}}{8\pi^2(u+n\cdot x-i\sigma\epsilon)}$$
(4.59)

after discarding the infrared modes.

• For each Feynman propagator,

$$\overset{\bullet}{x} \overset{\bullet}{y} = G_F(x,y) = \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} G_F(p) e^{ip \cdot (x-y)} = \frac{1}{4\pi^2 \left((x-y)^2 + i\epsilon \right)}$$
(4.60)

where the momentum space Feynman propagator is

$$G_F(p) = \frac{i}{-p^2 + i\epsilon}.$$
(4.61)

The $i\epsilon$ prescription of Feynman propagator in position space can be found in [43]. We should also mention that the external line may be obtained by asymptotic expansion of the Feynman propagator. To see this point, we may expand $\Phi(y)$ in the Feynman propagator near \mathcal{I}^+ and read out the leading coefficient of r^{-1} . The result is the same as the external line. Inversely, we may use the external line to derive the Feynman propagator. To simplify derivation, we assume $x^0 > y^0$, then

$$G_F(x,y) = \langle \Phi(x)\Phi(y) \rangle$$

= $2i \int du d\Omega \langle \Phi(x)\Sigma(u,\Omega) \rangle \langle \dot{\Sigma}(u,\Omega)\Phi(y) \rangle$
= $2i \int du d\Omega D^*(u,\Omega;x) \partial_u D(u,\Omega;y)$
= $\frac{1}{4\pi^2 [(\boldsymbol{x}-\boldsymbol{y})^2 - (x^0 - y^0 - i\epsilon)^2]}$ (4.62)

which is consistent with (4.60). In the derivation, the $i\epsilon$ description is crucial and interested readers may find more details in appendix B. Taking into account the possibility $y^0 > x^0$, we find the following formula

$$G_F(x,y) = 2i \int du d\Omega \left(\theta(x^0 - y^0) D^*(u,\Omega;x) \partial_u D(u,\Omega;y) + \theta(y^0 - x^0) D^*(u,\Omega;y) \partial_u D(u,\Omega;x) \right)$$
$$= \int du d\Omega \left(\theta(x^0 - y^0) D^*(u,\Omega;x) K(u,\Omega;y) + \theta(y^0 - x^0) D^*(u,\Omega;y) K(u,\Omega;x) \right).$$
(4.63)

The bulk-to-bulk propagator (Feynman propagator) is expressed as the product of the external line and bulk-to-boundary propagator in the Carrollian space. This is shown in figure 6.



Figure 6. Split representation of Feynman propagator for $x^0 > y^0$.

The Feynman propagator is a superposition of the Wightman functions

$$G_F(x,y) = \theta(x^0 - y^0)W^+(x,y) + \theta(y^0 - x^0)W^-(x,y)$$
(4.64)

where

$$W^+(x,y) = \langle \Phi(x)\Phi(y) \rangle, \qquad W^- = \langle \Phi(y)\Phi(x) \rangle.$$
 (4.65)

Therefore, the Wightman functions can be written as a split representation

$$W^{+}(x,y) = \int du d\Omega D^{*}(u,\Omega;x) K(u,\Omega;y), \qquad (4.66a)$$

$$W^{-}(x,y) = \int du d\Omega D^{*}(u,\Omega;y) K(u,\Omega;x).$$
(4.66b)

In AdS/CFT, there is a split representation of bulk-to-bulk propagator which is based on the product of bulk-to-boundary propagators [44]. It would be interesting to study this similarity in the future.

• For each vertex,

$$= -i\lambda \int d^4x \tag{4.67}$$

• Divide by the symmetry factor.

Now we will claim that the Carrollian amplitude (2.41) can be obtained by the previous Feynman rules. We will illustrate it in two examples to show the general idea. In the first

example, we will consider the one-loop correction for the two-point Carrollian amplitude. The one-loop Carrollian amplitude may be obtained by

$$C^{1-\text{loop}}(u_{1},\Omega_{1};u_{2},\Omega_{2}) = \underbrace{(u_{1},\Omega_{1}) \bullet \underbrace{x}}_{x} \bullet (u_{2},\Omega_{2}) \\ = (-i\lambda) \int d^{4}x D(u_{1},\Omega_{1};x) G_{F}(x;x) D(u_{2},\Omega_{2};x) \\ = -i\lambda\sigma_{1}\sigma_{2} \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}}\right)^{2} \int d^{4}x \frac{1}{(u_{1}+n_{1}\cdot x-i\sigma_{1}\epsilon)(u_{2}+n_{2}\cdot x-i\sigma_{2}\epsilon)} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{-i}{p^{2}} \\ = -i\lambda \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}i}\right)^{2} \int d^{4}x \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega_{1}e^{-i\sigma_{1}\omega_{1}(u_{1}+n_{1}\cdot x-i\sigma_{1}\epsilon)} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega_{2}e^{-i\sigma_{2}\omega_{2}(u_{2}+n_{2}\cdot x-i\sigma_{2}\epsilon)} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{-i}{p^{2}} \\ = -i\lambda \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}i}\right)^{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega_{1}e^{-i\sigma_{1}\omega_{1}u_{1}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega_{2}e^{-i\sigma_{2}\omega_{2}u_{2}}(2\pi)^{4}\delta^{(4)}(\sigma_{1}\omega_{1}n_{1}+\sigma_{2}\omega_{2}n_{2}) \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{-i}{p^{2}} \\ = \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}i}\right)^{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega_{1}e^{-i\sigma_{1}\omega_{1}u_{1}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega_{2}e^{-i\sigma_{2}\omega_{2}u_{2}}(2\pi)^{4}\delta^{(4)}(p_{1}+p_{2})i\mathcal{M}^{1-\text{loop}}(p_{1},p_{2}).$$

$$(4.68)$$

In the third line, we used the integral representation of the external line

$$D(u,\Omega;x) = \frac{1}{8\pi^2 i} \int_0^\infty d\omega e^{-i\sigma\omega(u+n\cdot x-i\sigma\epsilon)}.$$
(4.69)

In the last line, we rewrote the $\sigma_j \omega_j n_j$ as the null momentum p_j and used the one-loop \mathcal{M} matrix of Φ^4 theory

$$i\mathcal{M}^{1-\text{loop}}(p_1, p_2) = -i\lambda \times \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{-i}{p^2}$$
 (4.70)

The result matches with (2.41). In the second example, we consider the tree-level four-point Carrollian amplitude. Using the Feynman rules, we find

$$C^{\text{tree}}(u_{1},\Omega_{1};u_{2},\Omega_{2};u_{3},\Omega_{3};u_{4},\Omega_{4})$$

$$= \underbrace{(u_{2},\Omega_{2})}_{(u_{3},\Omega_{3})} \underbrace{(u_{1},\Omega_{1})}_{(u_{4},\Omega_{4})}$$

$$= -i\lambda \int d^{4}x D(u_{1},\Omega_{1};x) D(u_{2},\Omega_{2};x) D(u_{3},\Omega_{3};x) D(u_{4},\Omega_{4};x)$$

$$= -i\lambda \sigma_{1}\sigma_{2}\sigma_{3}\sigma_{4} \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}}\right)^{4} \int d^{4}x \frac{1}{\prod_{j=1}^{4}(u_{j}+n_{j}\cdot x-i\sigma_{i}\epsilon)}$$

$$= -i\lambda \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}i}\right)^{4} \int d^{4}x \prod_{j=1}^{4} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega_{j} e^{-i\sigma_{j}\omega_{j}(u_{j}+n_{j}\cdot x-i\sigma_{j}\epsilon)}$$

$$= -i\lambda \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}i}\right)^{4} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{4} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega_{j} e^{-i\sigma_{j}\omega_{j}u_{j}}\right) (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{4} \sigma_{j}\omega_{j}n_{j}\right)$$

$$= \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}i}\right)^{4} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{4} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega_{j} e^{-i\sigma_{j}\omega_{j}u_{j}}\right) (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{(4)} (p_{1}+p_{2}+p_{3}+p_{4})i\mathcal{M}^{\text{tree}}(p_{1},p_{2},p_{3},p_{4}) \quad (4.71)$$



Figure 7. Time ordered correlation function. The blue and red lines or points are connected to the incoming and outgoing states, respectively. The external points are y_j , $j = 1, 2, \dots, m + n$ and the vertices x_j , $j = 1, 2, \dots, m + n$ are connected to y_j through Feynman propagators which should be integrated out. The shaded part is the amputated correlation function G_{amp} which could be constructed by Feynman rules in the position space.

Again, the result matches with the formula (2.41). In the following, we will prove that the Carrollian amplitudes can be obtained from the Feynman rules presented in the previous subsections.

Proof. It is well-known that the Fourier transform of the time ordered correlation function is related to the S matrix through the LSZ reduction formula [37]. In massless Φ^4 theory, with the notation $p_j = \sigma_j \omega_j n_j$, the LSZ reduction formula can be simplified to be:

$$\left(\prod_{j=1}^{m+n} \int d^4 y_j e^{-ip_j \cdot y_j}\right) \langle \Omega | T\{\Phi(y_1) \cdots \Phi(y_m) \Phi(y_{m+1}) \cdots \Phi(y_{m+n})\} | \Omega \rangle$$

$$\sim \sum_{p_j^0 \to \sigma_j \omega_j} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{m+n} \frac{-i\sqrt{Z}}{p_j^2 - i\epsilon}\right) \langle p_{m+1} \cdots p_{m+n} | S | p_1 \cdots p_m \rangle$$
(4.72)

where the quantity Z is the renormalization factor which could be different whenever the fields are not the same. The Feynman rules for correlation functions in Φ^4 theory have already been proved in standard QFT textbook [37]:

• For each Feynman propagator,

$$\overset{\bullet}{x} \overset{\bullet}{y} = G_F(x,y) = \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{i}{-p^2 + i\epsilon} e^{ip \cdot (x-y)}.$$
 (4.73)

• For each vertex,

$$= -i\lambda \int d^4x.$$
 (4.74)

• For each external point,

$$\underbrace{\bullet}_{x} = 1. \tag{4.75}$$

• Divide by the symmetry factor.

With these Feynman rules, we will split the Feynman diagrams of correlation function into external points and amputated diagrams, which is shown in figure 7. The amputated diagrams of the correlation function are described by $G_{\text{amp}}(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_{m+n})$ with $x_j, j = 1, \dots, m+n$ labeling the internal vertices connected to the external points $y_j, j = 1, 2, \dots, m+n$. The (n+m)-point correlation function will be modified as:

$$\langle \Omega | T \{ \Phi(y_1) \cdots \Phi(y_m) \Phi(y_{m+1}) \cdots \Phi(y_{m+n}) \} | \Omega \rangle$$

$$= \left(\prod_{j=1}^{m+n} \int d^4 x_j \right) \left(\prod_{j=1}^{m+n} G_F(x_j - y_j) \right) G_{\mathrm{amp}}(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_{m+n}).$$

$$(4.76)$$

Note that there will be a vertex for each point x_j , so we have the integration $\int d^4x_j$ in this expression. The factors $-i\lambda$ in the Feynman rule have been absorbed into the amputated correlation function. Inserting (4.76) into the LSZ reduction formula, we get

l.h.s. =
$$\left(\prod_{j=1}^{m+n} \int d^4 x_j\right) \left(\prod_{j=1}^{m+n} G_F(p_j) e^{-ip_j \cdot x_j}\right) G_{\text{amp}}(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_{m+n}).$$
 (4.77)

We can redefine the field to absorb the renormalization factor Z. Thus the scattering amplitude can be deduced as:

$$\langle \boldsymbol{p}_{m+1}\cdots\boldsymbol{p}_{m+n}|S|\boldsymbol{p}_{1}\cdots\boldsymbol{p}_{m}\rangle = \left(\prod_{j=1}^{m+n}\int d^{4}x_{j}e^{-ip_{j}\cdot x_{j}}\right)G_{\mathrm{amp}}(x_{1},x_{2},\cdots,x_{m+n})$$
(4.78)

The Fourier transform factor $e^{-ip \cdot x}$ is interpreted as the external lines in the momentum space [37]. Note that both sides of the previous equation contain the disconnected Feynman diagrams. We will only focus on the connected part. On the left-hand side, the *S* matrix is reduced to the \mathcal{M} matrix up to a Dirac delta function which is associated with the conservation of energy and momentum. On the right-hand side, the amputated correlation function becomes the connected and amputated correlation function. Hence, the Carrollian amplitude can be reduced to

These are the Feynman rules for the Carrollian amplitude in Carrollian space. From the derivation, it is understood that the function $D(u, \Omega; x)$ is the external line, similar to the factor $e^{-ip \cdot x}$ in momentum space.

5 Four-point Carrollian amplitude

In this section, we will evaluate the four-point Carrollian amplitude in Φ^4 theory. The four boundary operators are inserted at (u_j, Ω_j) , j = 1, 2, 3, 4 respectively. We will adopt the stereographic coordinates

$$\Omega_j = (z_j, \bar{z}_j) \tag{5.1}$$

in the following. Since the Carrollian amplitude is invariant under Poincaré transformation, we may use Lorentz transformation to fix three of the coordinates to $0, 1, \infty$. The Lorentz transformations induce Möbius transformations which form the conformal group on S^2 . We can define the cross ratio

$$z = \frac{z_{12}z_{34}}{z_{13}z_{24}} \tag{5.2}$$

which is invariant under Möbius transformations. More explicitly, we will assume

 $z_1 = 0, \quad z_2 = z, \quad z_3 = 1, \quad z_4 = \infty$ (5.3)

to simplify discussion. The cross ratio z and its complex conjugate \bar{z} are related to the normal vectors n_j , j = 1, 2, 3, 4 (which correspond to the angular directions of the inserting points) through the relations

$$\frac{(\boldsymbol{n}_1 \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_2)(\boldsymbol{n}_3 \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_4)}{(\boldsymbol{n}_1 \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_3)(\boldsymbol{n}_2 \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_4)} = z\bar{z}, \quad \frac{(\boldsymbol{n}_1 \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_4)(\boldsymbol{n}_2 \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_3)}{(\boldsymbol{n}_1 \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_3)(\boldsymbol{n}_2 \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_4)} = (1-z)(1-\bar{z}). \tag{5.4}$$

5.1 Tree level

At the tree level, the four-point Carrollian amplitude is (4.71). A massless particle has a null momentum which may be written as

$$p^{\mu} = \sigma \omega n^{\mu} = \sigma \omega (1, \frac{z + \bar{z}}{1 + z\bar{z}}, -i\frac{z - \bar{z}}{1 + z\bar{z}}, -\frac{1 - z\bar{z}}{1 + z\bar{z}})$$
(5.5)

where we have parameterized the null vector n^{μ} by stereographic coordinates. Therefore, the momenta associated with z_j , j = 1, 2, 3, 4 are

$$p_1 = \sigma_1 \omega_1(1, 0, 0, -1),$$
 (5.6a)

$$p_2 = \sigma_2 \omega_2 \left(1, \frac{z + \bar{z}}{1 + z\bar{z}}, -i \frac{z - \bar{z}}{1 + z\bar{z}}, -\frac{1 - z\bar{z}}{1 + z\bar{z}}\right),$$
(5.6b)

$$p_3 = \sigma_3 \omega_3(1, 1, 0, 0), \tag{5.6c}$$

$$p_4 = \sigma_4 \omega_4(1, 0, 0, 1). \tag{5.6d}$$

It is easy to compute the Dirac delta function

$$\delta^{(4)}(p_1+p_2+p_3+p_4) = \frac{1+z^2}{2\omega_4}\sigma_1\sigma_2\sigma_3\sigma_4\delta\left(\omega_1+\frac{\sigma_4\omega_4}{z\sigma_1}\right)\delta\left(\omega_2-\frac{1+z^2}{z(1-z)}\frac{\sigma_4\omega_4}{\sigma_2}\right)\delta\left(\omega_3+\frac{2}{1-z}\frac{\sigma_4\omega_4}{\sigma_3}\right)\delta(\bar{z}-z).$$
(5.7)

- 32 -

Therefore, the tree-level Carrollian amplitude is

$$C^{\text{tree}}(u_{1},\Omega_{1},\sigma_{1};u_{2},\Omega_{2},\sigma_{2};u_{3},\Omega_{3},\sigma_{3};u_{4},\Omega_{4},\sigma_{4})$$

$$=-i\lambda\frac{1}{(8\pi^{2})^{4}}\prod_{j=1}^{4}\int_{0}^{\infty}d\omega_{j}e^{-i\sigma_{j}\omega_{j}u_{j}}(2\pi)^{4}$$

$$\times\frac{1+z^{2}}{2\omega_{4}}\sigma_{1}\sigma_{2}\sigma_{3}\sigma_{4}\delta\left(\omega_{1}+\frac{\sigma_{4}\omega_{4}}{z\sigma_{1}}\right)\delta\left(\omega_{2}-\frac{1+z^{2}}{z(1-z)}\frac{\sigma_{4}\omega_{4}}{\sigma_{2}}\right)\delta\left(\omega_{3}+\frac{2}{1-z}\frac{\sigma_{4}\omega_{4}}{\sigma_{3}}\right)\delta(\bar{z}-z)$$

$$=-i\lambda\frac{1+z^{2}}{2(4\pi)^{4}}\sigma_{1}\sigma_{2}\sigma_{3}\sigma_{4}\delta(\bar{z}-z)$$

$$\times\int_{0}^{\infty}\frac{d\omega_{4}}{\omega_{4}}e^{-i\sigma_{4}\omega_{4}\chi(u_{1},u_{2},u_{3},u_{4};z)}\Theta\left(-\frac{\sigma_{4}\omega_{4}}{z\sigma_{1}}\right)\Theta\left(\frac{1+z^{2}}{z(1-z)}\frac{\sigma_{4}\omega_{4}}{\sigma_{2}}\right)\Theta\left(-\frac{2}{1-z}\frac{\sigma_{4}\omega_{4}}{\sigma_{3}}\right)$$
(5.8)

where

$$\chi(u_1, u_2, u_3, u_4; z) = \frac{-z(1-z)u_4 + (1-z)u_1 - (1+z^2)u_2 + 2zu_3}{z(z-1)}.$$
(5.9)

The Dirac delta function $\delta(\bar{z} - z)$ constrains the particle 2 to propagate in the plane with $\phi = 0$ or $\phi = \pi$ in spherical coordinates such that the cross ratio is real. The appearance of the step function is from the conservation of energy and momentum. In the integration domain $\omega_4 > 0$, they lead to nonvanishing results only for

$$\sigma_1 \sigma_2 \sigma_3 \sigma_4 > 0. \tag{5.10}$$

There are only two cases.

1. All particles are incoming or outgoing. Without losing generality, we may set

$$\sigma_1 = \sigma_2 = \sigma_3 = \sigma_4 = 1. \tag{5.11}$$

In this case, the product of the step function is always zero

$$\Theta\left(-\frac{\sigma_4\omega_4}{z\sigma_1}\right)\Theta\left(\frac{1+z^2}{z(1-z)}\frac{\sigma_4\omega_4}{\sigma_2}\right)\Theta\left(-\frac{2}{1-z}\frac{\sigma_4\omega_4}{\sigma_3}\right) = \Theta(-z)\Theta(z(1-z))\Theta(z-1) \equiv 0.$$
(5.12)

This is trivial since all the particles are created from the vacuum, which violates the conservation of energy obviously.

2. Two particles are incoming and the other two particles are outgoing. Without losing generality, we may set

$$\sigma_1 = \sigma_2 = -1, \quad \sigma_3 = \sigma_4 = 1.$$
 (5.13)

Then the product of the step function becomes

$$\Theta\left(-\frac{\sigma_4\omega_4}{z\sigma_1}\right)\Theta\left(\frac{1+z^2}{z(1-z)}\frac{\sigma_4\omega_4}{\sigma_2}\right)\Theta\left(-\frac{2}{1-z}\frac{\sigma_4\omega_4}{\sigma_3}\right) = \Theta(z)\Theta(z(z-1))\Theta(z-1) = \Theta(z-1).$$
(5.14)

This is nonvanishing only for⁵

$$z > 1. \tag{5.15}$$

⁵For the other choices of σ_j , j = 1, 2, 3, 4, the domains of z with nonvanishing amplitude are different. Readers can find more details in appendix C.



Figure 8. Kinematic constraints from energy and momentum conservation for $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering of massless scalar particles. The particles 1 and 2 with red color are incoming and the particles 3 and 4 with blue color are outgoing. The four particles are constrained in the *x*-*z* plane. In this figure, the arrows represent the momenta of the corresponding particles in the real space.

The physical interpretation is shown in figure 8. The momentum of the incoming particle 1 and outgoing particle 4 point to the north pole of the celestial sphere S^2 . At the same time, the outgoing particle 3 propagates towards the positive x axis. The inequality (5.15) leads to

$$0 \le \theta < \frac{\pi}{2}, \quad \phi = 0. \tag{5.16}$$

Therefore, the second particle should direct to the third quadrant of x-z plane. This is clear in the figure since the total momentum should be zero. In this case, the tree-level four-point Carrollian amplitude becomes

$$C^{\text{tree}}(u_1, \Omega_1, -; u_2, \Omega_2, -; u_3, \Omega_3, +; u_4, \Omega_4, +)$$

= $-\lambda F(z) \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega}{\omega} e^{-i\omega\chi},$ (5.17)

where

$$F(z) = \frac{i}{(4\pi)^4} \frac{1+z^2}{2} \delta(\bar{z}-z)\Theta(z-1).$$
(5.18)

In other words, we have

$$C^{\text{tree}}(u_1, \Omega_1, -; u_2, \Omega_2, -; u_3, \Omega_3, +; u_4, \Omega_4, +) = -4\pi\lambda F(z)\beta(\chi).$$
(5.19)

Note that the beta function is still divergent in the IR. One may regularize it by inserting a step function in the integrand for ω_4 . This is equivalent to compute the following four-point Carrollian amplitude

$$C^{\text{tree}}(u_1, \Omega_1, -; u_2, \Omega_2, -; u_3, \Omega_3, +; u_4, \Omega_4, +; \omega_0)$$

$$\equiv \langle \Sigma(u_1, \Omega_1) \Sigma(u_2, \Omega_2) \Sigma(u_3, \Omega_3) \Sigma(u_4, \Omega_4; \omega_0) \rangle$$

$$= -\lambda F(z) \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega}{\omega} e^{-i\omega\chi} \Theta(\omega - \omega_0)$$

$$= -\lambda F(z) \Gamma(0, i\omega_0\chi).$$
(5.20)

In the IR limit, we find

$$\lim_{\omega_0 \to 0} C^{\text{tree}}(u_1, \Omega_1, -; u_2, \Omega_2, -; u_3, \Omega_3, +; u_4, \Omega_4, +; \omega_0) = \lambda F(z) I_0.$$
(5.21)

One should have consider the four-point Carrollian amplitude by discarding the IR modes in each operator $\Sigma(u_j, \Omega_j)$ which is much more symmetric. This defines the following four-point Carrollian amplitude

$$\begin{split} \hat{C}^{\text{tree}}(u_1,\Omega_1,\sigma_1;u_2,\Omega_2,\sigma_2;u_3,\Omega_3,\sigma_3;u_4,\Omega_4,\sigma_4;\omega_0) \\ &\equiv \langle \Sigma(u_1,\Omega_1;\omega_0)\Sigma(u_2,\Omega_2;\omega_0)\Sigma(u_3,\Omega_3;\omega_0)\Sigma(u_4,\Omega_4;\omega_0) \rangle \\ &= -i\lambda \frac{1}{(8\pi^2)^4} \prod_{j=1}^4 \int_0^\infty d\omega_j e^{-i\sigma_j\omega_j u_j} \Theta(\omega_j - \omega_0)(2\pi)^4 \\ &\quad \times \frac{1+z^2}{2\omega_4} \sigma_1 \sigma_2 \sigma_3 \sigma_4 \delta\left(\omega_1 + \frac{\sigma_4 \omega_4}{z\sigma_1}\right) \delta\left(\omega_2 - \frac{1+z^2}{z(1-z)} \frac{\sigma_4 \omega_4}{\sigma_2}\right) \delta\left(\omega_3 + \frac{2}{1-z} \frac{\sigma_4 \omega_4}{\sigma_3}\right) \delta(\bar{z} - z) \\ &= -i\lambda \frac{1+z^2}{2(4\pi)^4} \sigma_1 \sigma_2 \sigma_3 \sigma_4 \delta(\bar{z} - z) \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega_4}{\omega_4} e^{-i\sigma_4 \omega_4 \chi(u_1, u_2, u_3, u_4; z)} \\ &\quad \times \Theta\left(-\frac{\sigma_4 \omega_4}{z\sigma_1} - \omega_0\right) \Theta\left(\frac{1+z^2}{z(1-z)} \frac{\sigma_4 \omega_4}{\sigma_2} - \omega_0\right) \Theta\left(-\frac{2}{1-z} \frac{\sigma_4 \omega_4}{\sigma_3} - \omega_0\right) \Theta(\omega_4 - \omega_0). \end{split}$$
(5.22)

We still consider $\sigma_1 = \sigma_2 = -1$, $\sigma_3 = \sigma_4 = 1$. In this case, the product of the step function is still nonvanishing only for z > 1

$$\Theta\left(-\frac{\sigma_4\omega_4}{z\sigma_1}-\omega_0\right)\Theta\left(\frac{1+z^2}{z(1-z)}\frac{\sigma_4\omega_4}{\sigma_2}-\omega_0\right)\Theta\left(-\frac{2}{1-z}\frac{\sigma_4\omega_4}{\sigma_3}-\omega_0\right)\Theta(\omega_4-\omega_0)$$

= $\Theta(z-1)\Theta(\omega_4-z\omega_0).$ (5.23)

Note that the integral domain for ω_4 is modified to

$$\omega_4 > z\omega_0. \tag{5.24}$$

Therefore,

$$\tilde{C}^{\text{tree}}(u_1, \Omega_1, -; u_2, \Omega_2, -; u_3, \Omega_3, +; u_4, \Omega_4, +; \omega_0) = -\lambda F(z) \Gamma(0, iz\omega_0 \chi).$$
(5.25)

The result is slightly different from (5.20). This is fine since they correspond to different correlators, depending on the way to discard the IR modes. Note that we can find a finite result by their difference

$$\hat{C}^{\text{tree}}(u_1,\Omega_1,-;u_2,\Omega_2,-;u_3,\Omega_3,+;u_4,\Omega_4,+;\omega_0) - C^{\text{tree}}(u_1,\Omega_1,-;u_2,\Omega_2,-;u_3,\Omega_3,+;u_4,\Omega_4,+;\omega_0) \\
= \lambda F(z) \log z.$$
(5.26)

General four-point Carrollian amplitudes. Now we will use Lorentz transformation to transform the previous result to general four-point Carrollian amplitudes. By a Möbius transformation which is parameterized by

$$a = \pm \sqrt{\frac{z_{31}}{z_{14}z_{34}}} z_4, \quad b = \mp \sqrt{\frac{z_{34}}{z_{31}z_{14}}} z_1, \quad c = \pm \sqrt{\frac{z_{31}}{z_{14}z_{34}}}, \quad d = \mp \sqrt{\frac{z_{34}}{z_{31}z_{14}}}, \tag{5.27}$$

we may transform the points $0, z, 1, \infty$ to z_1, z_2, z_3, z_4 , respectively. With the transformation property (3.80), we find

$$\langle \Sigma(u_1, z_1, \bar{z}_1) \Sigma(u_2, z_2, \bar{z}_2) \Sigma(u_3, z_3, \bar{z}_3) \Sigma(u_4, z_4, \bar{z}_4) \rangle$$

= $\Gamma_1 \Gamma_2 \Gamma_3 \Gamma_4 \langle \Sigma(\Gamma_1 u_1, 0) \Sigma(\Gamma_2 u_2, z) \Sigma(\Gamma_3 u_3, 1) \Sigma(\Gamma_4 u_4, \infty) \rangle,$ (5.28)

where the redshift factors are

$$\Gamma_1 = |d|^2 (1 + |z_1|^2) = |\frac{z_{34}}{z_{31} z_{14}}|(1 + |z_1|^2),$$
(5.29a)

$$\Gamma_2 = \frac{1+|z_2|^2}{1+|z|^2}|cz+d|^2 = \frac{|z_{34}z_{14}|}{|z_{24}|^2|z_{31}|}\frac{1+|z_2|^2}{1+|z|^2},$$
(5.29b)

$$\Gamma_3 = \frac{1}{2}|c+d|^2(1+|z_3|^2) = \frac{1}{2}|\frac{z_{14}}{z_{31}z_{34}}|(1+|z_3|^2), \qquad (5.29c)$$

$$\Gamma_4 = |c|^2 (1 + |z_4|^2) = |\frac{z_{31}}{z_{14} z_{34}}|(1 + |z_4|^2).$$
(5.29d)

Therefore, at the tree level, we find

$$\begin{split} &\langle \Sigma(u_1, z_1, \bar{z}_1) \Sigma(u_2, z_2, \bar{z}_2) \Sigma(u_3, z_3, \bar{z}_3) \Sigma(u_4, z_4, \bar{z}_4) \rangle \\ &= \frac{1}{2|z_{24}|^2 |z_{13}|^2 (1+|z|^2)} \prod_{j=1}^4 (1+|z_j|^2) \langle \Sigma(\Gamma_1 u_1, 0) \Sigma(\Gamma_2 u_2, z) \Sigma(\Gamma_3 u_3, 1) \Sigma(\Gamma_4 u_4, \infty) \rangle \\ &= -i\lambda \frac{\sigma_1 \sigma_2 \sigma_3 \sigma_4}{4(4\pi)^4 |z_{24}|^2 |z_{13}|^2} \delta(\bar{z}-z) \prod_{j=1}^4 (1+|z_j|^2) \Theta\left(-\frac{\sigma_4}{z\sigma_1}\right) \Theta\left(\frac{1+z^2}{z(1-z)} \frac{\sigma_4}{\sigma_2}\right) \Theta\left(-\frac{2}{1-z} \frac{\sigma_4}{\sigma_3}\right) \\ &\times \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega_4}{\omega_4} e^{-i\sigma_4 \omega_4 \chi(\Gamma_1 u_1, \Gamma_2 u_2, \Gamma_3 u_3, \Gamma_4 u_4; z)}, \end{split}$$
(5.30)

where the function

$$\begin{split} \chi(\Gamma_1 u_1, \Gamma_2 u_2, \Gamma_3 u_3, \Gamma_4 u_4; z) \\ &= \frac{-z(1-z)\Gamma_4 u_4 + (1-z)\Gamma_1 u_1 - (1+z^2)\Gamma_2 u_2 + 2z\Gamma_3 u_3}{z(z-1)} \\ &= \Gamma_4 [u_4 - z^{-1}\Gamma_4^{-1}\Gamma_1 u_1 - z^{-1}(z-1)^{-1}(1+z^2)\Gamma_4^{-1}\Gamma_2 u_2 + 2(z-1)^{-1}\Gamma_4^{-1}\Gamma_3 u_3] \\ &= \Gamma_4 \left[u_4 - z\frac{1+|z_1|^2}{1+|z_4|^2} |\frac{z_{24}}{z_{12}}|^2 u_1 + \frac{1-z}{z}\frac{1+|z_2|^2}{1+|z_4|^2} |\frac{z_{34}}{z_{23}}|^2 u_2 - \frac{1}{1-z}\frac{1+|z_3|^2}{1+|z_4|^2} |\frac{z_{14}}{z_{13}}|^2 u_3 \right]. \end{split}$$
(5.31)

The result is the same as [28] after taking into account the fact that the authors in that paper used a different parameterization of the null momentum⁶

$$p^{\mu} = \sigma \omega (1 + |z|^2) n^{\mu}, \tag{5.32}$$

which is equivalent to our parameterization (5.5) up to a factor $(1 + |z|^2)$.

 $^{^{6}\}mathrm{Note}$ that we also flip the sign the fourth component of the momentum. However, this doesn't change the conclusion.

W

Before we close this subsection, we will comment on the dependence of function χ in the four-point Carrollian amplitude. This function actually reflects the fact that the Carrollian amplitude is invariant under spacetime translation. From (3.63), we find the following identity for four-point Carrollian amplitude

$$\langle \Sigma(u_1 - a \cdot n_1, 0) \Sigma(u_2 - a \cdot n_2, z) \Sigma(u_3 - a \cdot n_3, 1) \Sigma(u_4 - a \cdot n_4, \infty) \rangle$$

= $\langle \Sigma(u_1, 0) \Sigma(u_2, z) \Sigma(u_3, 1) \Sigma(u_4, \infty) \rangle.$ (5.33)

This implies that the Carrollian amplitude depends only on the function which is invariant under spacetime translation. The invariant may be written as

$$\hat{\chi} = \alpha_1 u_1 + \alpha_2 u_2 + \alpha_3 u_3 + \alpha_4 u_4. \tag{5.34}$$

The spacetime translation invariance implies

$$\alpha_1 n_1^{\mu} + \alpha_2 n_2^{\mu} + \alpha_3 n_3^{\mu} + \alpha_4 n_4^{\mu} = 0.$$
(5.35)

With the parameterization (5.6), we find

$$\alpha_1 = -\frac{1}{z}\alpha_4, \quad \alpha_2 = \frac{1+z^2}{z(1-z)}\alpha_4, \quad \alpha_3 = -\frac{1}{1-z}\alpha_4.$$
(5.36)

Therefore, the spacetime translation invariant function $\hat{\chi}$ is proportional to χ up to a time-independent constant

$$\hat{\chi} = \alpha_4 \left[-\frac{1}{z} u_1 + \frac{1+z^2}{z(1-z)} u_2 - \frac{2}{1-z} u_3 + u_4 \right] = \alpha_4 \chi(u_1, u_2, u_3, u_4; z).$$
(5.37)

5.2 1-loop corrections

There are three channels at the 1-loop level which are shown in figure 9. In the s channel, the Carrollian amplitude is

$$\begin{split} C_{s}^{1\text{-loop}}(u_{1},\Omega_{1},\sigma_{1};u_{2},\Omega_{2},\sigma_{2};u_{3},\Omega_{3},\sigma_{3};u_{4},\Omega_{4},\sigma_{4}) \\ &= \frac{(-i\lambda)^{2}}{2} \int d^{4}x \int d^{4}y D(u_{1},\Omega_{1};x) D(u_{2},\Omega_{2};x) D(u_{3},\Omega_{3};y) D(u_{4},\Omega_{4};y) \left(G_{F}(x-y)\right)^{2} \\ &= \frac{(-i\lambda)^{2}}{2} \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}i}\right)^{4} \int d^{4}x \int d^{4}y \prod_{j=1}^{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega_{j} e^{-i\sigma_{j}\omega_{j}(u_{j}+n_{j}\cdot x-i\sigma_{j}\epsilon)} \prod_{k=1}^{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega_{k} e^{-i\sigma_{k}\omega_{k}(u_{k}+n_{k}\cdot y-i\sigma_{k}\epsilon)} \\ &\times \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{-i}{p^{2}} e^{ip\cdot(x-y)} \int \frac{d^{4}p'}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{-i}{p'^{2}} e^{ip'\cdot(x-y)} \\ &= \frac{(-i\lambda)^{2}}{2} \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}i}\right)^{4} \prod_{j=1}^{4} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega_{j} e^{-i\sigma_{j}\omega_{j}u_{j}} \\ &\times \int d^{4}p \int d^{4}p' \frac{(-i)^{2}}{(p^{2})(p'^{2})} \delta^{(4)}(p+p'-p_{1}-p_{2}) \delta^{(4)}(p+p'+p_{3}+p_{4}) \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}i}\right)^{4} \prod_{j=1}^{4} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega_{j} e^{-i\sigma_{j}\omega_{j}u_{j}} (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{(4)}(p_{1}+p_{2}+p_{3}+p_{4}) i\mathcal{M}_{s}^{1\text{-loop}}(p_{1},p_{2},p_{3},p_{4}) \tag{5.38}$$





u-channel

Figure 9. Four-point Carrollian amplitudes at 1-loop level in s, t, u channels.

where $\mathcal{M}_s^{1\text{-loop}}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4)$ is $2 \to 2$ scattering \mathcal{M} matrix in the *s* channel at the 1-loop level

$$i\mathcal{M}_{s}^{1-\text{loop}}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}) = \frac{(-i\lambda)^{2}}{2} \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{(-i)^{2}}{p^{2}(p-p_{1}-p_{2})^{2}}$$
 (5.39)

whose value could be calculated via dimensional regularization [37, 45]

$$i\mathcal{M}_s^{1\text{-loop}}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) = \frac{i\lambda^2 \bar{M}^{\varepsilon}}{16\pi^2} \left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon} - \frac{1}{2}\log\frac{s}{4M^2}\right)$$
(5.40)

where

$$\varepsilon = 4 - d \tag{5.41}$$

is a small positive quantity and s is the Mandelstam variable

$$s = (p_1 + p_2)^2. (5.42)$$

We have also inserted an energy scale M into the result to balance the dimensions. We use $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme by absorbing the constant into the energy scale⁷

$$\bar{M} = M e^{-\frac{1}{2}\log 4\pi - \frac{1}{2}\psi(3/2)},\tag{5.43}$$

where $\psi(q)$ is Digamma function, namely the derivative of the logarithm of the Gamma function, seeing (D.6). By taking into account the other two channels, we find

$$i\mathcal{M}^{1-\text{loop}}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) = i\lambda^2 \bar{M}^{\varepsilon} \left(\frac{3}{16\pi^2\varepsilon} - \frac{1}{32\pi^2}\log\frac{stu}{64M^6}\right)$$
 (5.44)

⁷Strictly speaking, the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme in [37] is slightly different from ours up to a constant factor.

 with^8

$$t = (p_1 + p_3)^2, \quad u = (p_1 + p_4)^2.$$
 (5.45)

The momentum conservation (5.7) fixes

$$\omega_1 = \frac{\omega_4}{z}, \quad \omega_2 = -\frac{1+z^2}{z(1-z)}\omega_4, \quad \omega_3 = -\frac{2}{1-z}\omega_4 \tag{5.46}$$

and thus,

$$s = -\frac{4\omega_4^2}{z-1}, \quad t = \frac{4\omega_4^2}{z(z-1)}, \quad u = \frac{4\omega_4^2}{z}.$$
 (5.47)

Substituting them into the 1-loop amplitude, and taking into account the counterterm

$$= -i\delta_{\lambda} = -i\frac{3\lambda^2}{16\pi^2\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^3), \qquad (5.48)$$

we find

$$i\mathcal{M}^{1\text{-loop}}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) = i\left(a_0(\lambda) + a_1(\lambda)\log\frac{\omega_4}{M}\right)$$
(5.49)

where we have expanded the coefficients $a_0(\lambda), a_1(\lambda)$ up to 1-loop level

$$a_0(\lambda) = -\lambda + \frac{\lambda^2}{32\pi^2} [\log z(z-1) + \log z + \log(1-z)], \quad a_1(\lambda) = -\frac{3\lambda^2}{16\pi^2}.$$
 (5.50)

Note that there are three branch points at z = 0, 1 and ∞ for a_0 which lead to discontinuity of the \mathcal{M} matrix on the two sides of the branch cuts. The discontinuity of the imaginary part of \mathcal{M} is related to the unitarity of S matrix. In the following, the coefficients $a_j(\lambda), j = 0, 1, \cdots$ will be abbreviated to $a_j, j = 0, 1, \cdots$, respectively. The 1-loop Carrollian amplitude becomes

$$C^{1-\text{loop}}(u_1, \Omega_1, -; u_2, \Omega_2, -; u_3, \Omega_3, +; u_4, \Omega_4, +) = F(z) \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega}{\omega} e^{-i\omega\chi} \left(a_0 + a_1 \log \frac{\omega}{M} \right)$$
(5.51)

The integration suffers IR divergent. We may cure this problem by inserting a step function $\Theta(\omega - \omega_0)$ as (5.20). By defining a definite integral

$$J(q,\chi,\omega_0) = \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega}{\omega^{1-q}} e^{-i\omega\chi} \Theta(\omega-\omega_0), \quad \operatorname{Re}(q) > 0$$
(5.52)

⁸Note that here u is a Mandelstam variable in the u channel, which should be distinguishable from the retarded time. Similarly, t is the Mandelstam variable in the t channel, which is not the coordinate time in Cartesian coordinates.

we find

$$C^{1-\text{loop}}(u_1, \Omega_1, -; u_2, \Omega_2, -; u_3, \Omega_3, +; u_4, \Omega_4, +)$$

= $F(z) \lim_{q \to 0} \left(a_0 - a_1 \log M + a_1 \frac{d}{dq} \right) J(q, \chi, \omega_0)$
= $F(z) [(a_0 - a_1 \log M) J_0(\chi, \omega_0) + a_1 J_1(\chi, \omega_0)]$
= $F(z) \left[(a_0 - a_1 \log M) (-I_0) + a_1 \left(\frac{I_0^2}{2} - I_0 \log \omega_0 + \frac{\pi^2}{12} \right) \right]$
= $F(z) \left[\frac{\pi^2}{12} a_1 + \left(-a_0 - a_1 \log \frac{\omega_0}{M} \right) I_0 + \frac{a_1}{2} I_0^2 \right],$ (5.53)

where J_0, J_1 are defined in (D.2) and we have used (D.15b).

Now we will discuss the discontinuity of the \mathcal{M} matrix and corresponding Carrollian amplitude. Physically, the discontinuity is associated with the case that the intermediate virtual particle becomes on shell. In our convention, this is only possible in the *s* channel for s < 0. Assuming ω_4 is always real, the discontinuity appears only for

$$z > 1 \tag{5.54}$$

which is exactly the requirement of nonvanishing F(z). From (5.49), the discontinuity of the $\mathcal{M}^{1-\text{loop}}$ matrix is

Disc
$$\mathcal{M}^{1\text{-loop}} = i \frac{\lambda^2}{16\pi}.$$
 (5.55)

Usually, this discontinuity is associated with the Optical theorem which could be found in the textbook. Here we notice that there is a similar discontinuity for the Carrollian amplitude

Disc
$$C^{1-\text{loop}} = -\frac{i\lambda^2}{16\pi}F(z)I_0$$
 (5.56)

which may be related to (2.46).

5.3 2-loop corrections

The 2-loop Feynman diagrams with $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering may be found in [46]. In figure 10, we have shown the *s* channel part. There are three diagrams in the *s*-channel. For the first diagram of figure 10, the \mathcal{M} matrix is

$$i\mathcal{M}_{(1)}^{2\text{-loop}}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) = -i\frac{\lambda^3}{(4\pi)^4}\bar{M}^{\varepsilon} \left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} - \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\log\frac{s}{4M^2} + \frac{1}{2}\log^2\frac{s}{4M^2} - \frac{\pi^2}{24} + 1\right) + t, u \text{ channel.}$$
(5.57)

For the second diagram of figure 10, the \mathcal{M} matrix is

$$i\mathcal{M}_{(2)}^{2\text{-loop}}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) = \frac{(-i\lambda)^3}{4} \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(\frac{i}{-p^2}\right)^2 \frac{i}{-(p_1+p_2-p)^2} \int \frac{d^4p'}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{i}{-p'^2} + t, u \text{ channel.}$$
(5.58)



Figure 10. The Feynman diagrams for massless Φ^4 theory at two loops. Here we only show the *s*-channel.

The integral for p' may be evaluated by inserting the small mass term m_0^2 . In dimensional regularization,

$$\int \frac{d^d p'}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{1}{-p^2 - m_0^2} = -\frac{i}{(4\pi)^{d/2}} \Gamma\left(1 - \frac{d}{2}\right) (m_0^2)^{\frac{d}{2} - 1}.$$
(5.59)

The result may be set to 0 since it is proportional to the positive power of m_0 . Note that this integral also appears in the 1-loop correction of two-point Carrollian amplitude. It is zero such that the two-point Carrollian amplitude is not affected by 1-loop correction.⁹

For the third diagram of figure 10, the \mathcal{M} matrix is

$$i\mathcal{M}_{(3)}^{2\text{-loop}}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) = 2 \times \frac{(-i\lambda)^3 \bar{M}^{3\varepsilon}}{2} \int \frac{d^d p}{(2\pi)^d} \int \frac{d^d p'}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{i}{-p^2} \frac{i}{-p'^2} \frac{i}{-(p_3 + p - p')^2} \frac{i}{-(p_1 + p_2 - p)^2} + t, u \text{ channel.}$$
(5.60)

Note that we have shifted λ to $\lambda \overline{M}^{\varepsilon}$ in dimensional regularization. The integration over p' can be obtained as 1-loop calculation. The integration over p can be obtained by the

$$\int \frac{d^d p}{(2\pi)^d} (-p^2)^a = 0$$

for any complex number $a + \frac{d}{2} \neq 0$.

⁹Actually, similar integrals can be regularized to 0 [47, 48]



Figure 11. Counterterms at 2-loop level. There are also diagrams in the t, u channel for the left diagram which are not shown in the figure.

Feynman's formula

$$\frac{1}{A_1^{a_1}A_2^{a_2}\cdots A_n^{a_n}} = \frac{\Gamma(a_1+a_2+\cdots+a_n)}{\Gamma(a_1)\cdots\Gamma(a_n)} \int_0^1 dx_1\cdots \int_0^1 dx_n \frac{\delta(x_1+\cdots+x_n-1)x_1^{a_1-1}\cdots x_n^{a_n-1}}{(x_1A_1+\cdots+x_nA_n)^{a_1+\cdots+a_n}}.$$
(5.61)

We summarize the result in the following

$$\begin{split} &i\mathcal{M}_{(3)}^{2\text{-loop}}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) \\ &= -i\frac{\lambda^3}{(4\pi)^4} \bar{M}^{\varepsilon} \left[\frac{2}{\varepsilon^2} + 2\frac{\frac{1}{2} - \log\frac{s}{4M^2}}{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{12} \left(12 \left(\log\frac{s}{4M^2} - 1 \right) \log\frac{s}{4M^2} + \pi^2 + 42 \right) \right] + t, u \text{ channel.} \end{split}$$

We should also consider the contributions from the counterterms which are shown in the first diagram of figure 11

$$i\mathcal{M}_{(4)}^{2\text{-loop}}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) = 2 \times (-i\lambda)(-i\delta_\lambda)\bar{M}^{2\varepsilon} \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d^d p}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{-i}{p^2} \frac{-i}{(p-p_1-p_2)^2} + t, u \text{ channel.}$$
(5.62)

The factor 2 counts the position of the counterterm and $\frac{1}{2}$ is the symmetry factor. Up to order λ^3 , this is

$$i\mathcal{M}_{(4)}^{2\text{-loop}}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) = i\frac{\lambda^3}{(4\pi)^4}\bar{M}^{\varepsilon} \left[\frac{6}{\varepsilon^2} - \frac{3\log\frac{s}{4M^2}}{\varepsilon} + 3\left(\frac{\log^2\frac{s}{4M^2}}{4} - \frac{\pi^2}{24} + 1\right)\right] + t, u \text{ channel.}$$
(5.63)

Adding the 2-loop results, we find

$$\sum_{j=1}^{4} i \mathcal{M}_{(j)}^{2-\text{loop}}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) = i \frac{\lambda^3}{(4\pi)^4} \bar{M}^{\varepsilon} \left[\frac{3}{\varepsilon^2} - \frac{1}{\varepsilon} - \frac{3}{4} \log^2 \frac{s}{4M^2} + \log \frac{s}{4M^2} - \frac{3}{2} - \frac{\pi^2}{6} \right] + t, u \text{ channel.}$$
(5.64)

The divergences should be canceled by the vertex counterterm at order λ^3 (seeing the second diagram of figure 11)

$$-i\delta_{\lambda} = -i\frac{3\lambda^2}{16\pi^2\varepsilon} - i\frac{3\lambda^3}{(4\pi)^4} \left(\frac{3}{\varepsilon^2} - \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^4).$$
(5.65)

Including all the four-point amplitudes up to 2-loop, we can write it as

$$i\mathcal{M}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) = i\left(a_0 + a_1\log\frac{\omega_4}{M} + a_2\log^2\frac{\omega_4}{M}\right)$$
 (5.66)

where the coefficients a_0, a_1, a_2 may be parameterized as

$$a_j = \sum_{k=j+1}^{\infty} a_j^{(k)} \lambda^k.$$
 (5.67)

Up to two loop, the expansion constants are

$$a_0^{(1)} = -1, (5.68a)$$

$$a_0^{(2)} = \frac{\log(1-z) + \log(z) + \log((z-1)z)}{32\pi^2},$$
(5.68b)

$$a_0^{(3)} = -\frac{1}{1024\pi^4} \Big[3\log^2(1-z) + 3\log^2(z) + 3\log^2((z-1)z) + 4\log(1-z) + 4\log(z) + 4\log((z-1)z) + 2\pi^2 + 18 \Big],$$
(5.68c)

$$a_1^{(2)} = -\frac{3}{16\pi^2},\tag{5.68d}$$

$$a_1^{(3)} = \frac{3(\log(1-z) + \log(z) + \log((z-1)z) + 2)}{256\pi^4},$$
(5.68e)

$$a_2^{(3)} = -\frac{9}{256\pi^4}.$$
 (5.68f)

The 2-loop Carrollian amplitude becomes

$$C^{2-\text{loop}}(u_1, \Omega_1, -; u_2, \Omega_2, -; u_3, \Omega_3, +; u_4, \Omega_4, +)$$

$$= F(z) \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega}{\omega} e^{-i\omega\chi} \left(a_0 + a_1 \log \frac{\omega}{M} + a_2 \log^2 \frac{\omega}{M} \right)$$

$$= F(z) \lim_{q \to 0} \left(a_0 - a_1 \log M + a_2 \log^2 M + (a_1 - 2a_2 \log M) \frac{d}{dq} + a_2 \frac{d^2}{dq^2} \right) J(q, \chi, \omega_0)$$

$$= F(z) \left[\frac{1}{12} \left(\pi^2 a_1 + 2\pi^2 a_2 \log \frac{\omega_0}{M} - 8a_2\zeta(3) \right) - \left(a_0 + a_1 \log \frac{\omega_0}{M} + a_2 \log^2 \frac{\omega_0}{M} + \frac{\pi^2 a_2}{6} \right) I_0 + \left(\frac{a_1}{2} + a_2 \log \frac{\omega_0}{M} \right) I_0^2 - \frac{a_2}{3} I_0^3 \right]. \quad (5.69)$$

5.4 Callan-Symanzik equation

To check the consistency of our result, we will show that the four-point Carrollian amplitude obeys the Callan-Symanzik equation up to 2-loop. The four-point Carrollian amplitude is abbreviated to $C_{(4)}$ below

$$C_{(4)} = \langle \Sigma(u_1, \Omega_1) \Sigma(u_2, \Omega_2) \Sigma(u_3, \Omega_3) \Sigma(u_4, \Omega_4) \rangle.$$
(5.70)

According to our previous results, the Carrollian amplitude depends on an arbitrary energy scale M and the coupling constant λ at the same scale. The coupling constant is the

renormalized one and the Carrollian amplitude $C_{(4)}$ is different from the bare Carrollian amplitude $C_{(4)}^{(0)}$

$$C_{(4)}^{(0)} = \langle \Sigma_0(u_1, \Omega_1) \Sigma_0(u_2, \Omega_2) \Sigma_0(u_3, \Omega_3) \Sigma_0(u_4, \Omega_4) \rangle$$
(5.71)

where $\Sigma_0(u, \Omega)$ is the leading order coefficient in the asymptotic expansion of the bare field $\Phi_0(t, \boldsymbol{x})$

$$\Phi_0(t, \boldsymbol{x}) = \frac{\Sigma_0(u, \Omega)}{r} + \cdots .$$
(5.72)

On the other hand, the field $\Sigma(u, \Omega)$ corresponds to the leading order coefficient of the renormalized field $\Phi(t, \boldsymbol{x})$

$$\Phi(t, \boldsymbol{x}) = \frac{\Sigma(u, \Omega)}{r} + \cdots .$$
(5.73)

The renormalized field Φ and the bare field Φ_0 may be related by a rescaling factor Z

$$\Phi(t, \boldsymbol{x}) = Z^{-1/2} \Phi_0(t, \boldsymbol{x}).$$
(5.74)

Therefore, the bare field Σ_0 and the renormalized field Σ are related by the same factor

$$\Sigma(u,\Omega) = Z^{-1/2} \Sigma_0(u,\Omega).$$
(5.75)

Naively, one may expect the following relations

$$C_{(4)} = Z^{-2} C_{(4)}^{(0)}.$$
(5.76)

However, from (4.79), the Carrollian amplitude is actually related to the connected and amputated correlation function, which implies a different behaviour and we will discuss it in detail. It is obvious that the relation between the correlation function of renormalized fields $G(x_1, \dots, x_{m+n})$ and that of the bare fields $G_0(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_{m+n})$ are expressed as

$$G(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_{m+n}) = Z^{-\frac{m+n}{2}} G_0(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_{m+n}).$$
(5.77)

In our derivation of Feynman rules, the correlation function is split into external Feynman propagators and the internal amputated correlation function. The propagator of the renormalized field is related to that of bare field by

$$\langle 0|T\{\Phi(y_1)\Phi(y_2)\}|0\rangle = Z^{-1}\langle 0|T\{\Phi_0(y_1)\Phi_0(y_2)\}|0\rangle.$$
(5.78)

Hence the amputated correlation function for renormalized field $G_{\text{amputated}}(x_1, x_2 \cdots, x_{m+n})$ and bare field $G_{0,\text{amputated}}(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_{m+n})$ have the relation

$$G_{\text{amputated}}(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_{m+n}) = Z^{\frac{m+n}{2}} G_{0,\text{amputated}}(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_{m+n}).$$
(5.79)

Therefore we can use (4.79) to derive the relation between Carrollian amplitude $C_{(m+n)}$ and the bare Carrollian amplitude $C_{(m+n)}^{(0)}$:

$$C_{(m+n)} = Z^{+\frac{m+n}{2}} C_{(m+n)}^{(0)}.$$
(5.80)



Figure 12. Sunset diagram.

For four-point Carrollian amplitude, we have:

$$C_{(4)} = Z^{+2} C_{(4)}^{(0)}.$$
 (5.81)

Note that the bare Carrollian amplitude is independent of the arbitrary energy scale M

$$M\frac{d}{dM}C^{(0)}_{(4)} = 0 (5.82)$$

which leads to

$$M\frac{\partial}{\partial M}C_{(4)} + \beta \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda}C_{(4)} - 4\gamma C_{(4)} = 0, \qquad (5.83)$$

where we have defined the β and γ function as

$$\beta = M \frac{\partial \lambda}{\partial M}, \qquad \gamma = \frac{1}{2} M \frac{\partial \log Z}{\partial M}.$$
 (5.84)

The above equation (5.83) is the Callan-Symanzik equation for four-point Carrollian amplitude. It is easy to extend to *n*-point Carrollian amplitude

$$M\frac{\partial}{\partial M}C_{(n)} + \beta \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda}C_{(n)} - n\gamma C_{(n)} = 0.$$
(5.85)

The β function can be used to define a running coupling constant $\overline{\lambda}$. Note that the β, γ functions have been computed and they are

$$\beta = \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} \beta^{(j)} \lambda^j, \quad \gamma = \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} \gamma^{(j)} \lambda^j.$$
(5.86)

We only need the result up to 2-loop level whose relevant coefficients are [49]

$$\beta^{(2)} = \frac{3}{16\pi^2}, \qquad \beta^{(3)} = -\frac{17}{3 \times (4\pi)^4}, \qquad \gamma^{(2)} = \frac{1}{12 \times (4\pi)^4} \tag{5.87}$$

where the $\gamma^{(2)}$ is obtained by analyzing the sunset diagram which is shown in figure 12.

The equation (5.83) should be satisfied order by order. The relevant parts are

$$M\frac{\partial}{\partial M}C_{(4)} = F(z)\left[-\frac{\pi^2}{6}a_2 + \left(a_1 + 2a_2\log\frac{\omega_0}{M}\right)I_0 - a_2I_0^2\right] + \cdots,$$
(5.88a)

$$\beta \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} C_{(4)} = F(z) \beta \left[\frac{\pi^2}{12} \partial_\lambda a_1 - \left(\partial_\lambda a_0 + \partial_\lambda a_1 \log \frac{\omega_0}{M} \right) I_0 + \frac{1}{2} \partial_\lambda a_1 I_0^2 \right] + \cdots, \quad (5.88b)$$

$$\gamma C_{(4)} = -F(z)\gamma a_0 I_0. \tag{5.88c}$$

Up to order λ^3 , they are equivalent to the following equations

$$a_2^{(3)} = \beta^{(2)} a_1^{(2)}, \tag{5.89a}$$

$$a_1^{(2)} = \beta^{(2)} a_0^{(1)}, \tag{5.89b}$$

$$a_1^{(3)} = 2\beta^{(2)}a_0^{(2)} + \beta^{(3)}a_0^{(1)} - 4\gamma^{(2)}a_0^{(1)}$$
(5.89c)

whose validity could be checked using the equations (5.68) and (5.87).

Now we will solve the Callan-Symanzik equation (5.85) to find the relation between two n-point Carrollian amplitudes at two different energy scales μ and μ' . Note that both of them are related to the bare Carrollian amplitude, therefore we find

$$C_{(n)}(\mu) = \frac{Z^{n/2}(\mu)}{Z^{n/2}(\mu')} C_{(n)}(\mu') = \exp\left[\frac{n}{2}(\log Z(\mu) - \log Z(\mu'))\right] C_{(n)}(\mu').$$
(5.90)

With the definition of the γ function, we get

$$C_{(n)}(\bar{\lambda}(\mu)) = \exp\left[n \int_{\mu'}^{\mu} \frac{d\mu''}{\mu''} \gamma(\bar{\lambda}(\mu''))\right] C_{(n)}(\bar{\lambda}(\mu'))$$
(5.91)

where we have written out the dependence on the running coupling constant explicitly in the expression. We can obtain the same result by solving (5.85) directly as in the standard textbook. By expanding the exponential in the solution up to one loop level, i.e., order λ^2 , it is obvious that the four-point Carrollian amplitude at different scales should obey the equation

$$C_{(4)}(\bar{\lambda}(\mu)) = C_{(4)}(\bar{\lambda}(\mu')).$$
(5.92)

To check this equation, we set $\mu' = M$ and $\mu = \omega_0$. Using the fact that the running coupling constant at the scale ω_0 is

$$\bar{\lambda}(\omega_0) \approx \frac{\lambda}{1 - \frac{3\lambda}{16\pi^2} \log \frac{\omega_0}{M}} \approx \lambda + \frac{3\lambda^2}{16\pi^2} \log \frac{\omega_0}{M}$$
(5.93)

up to order λ^2 , indeed the four-point Carrollian amplitude at 1-loop level can be rewritten as a function of $\bar{\lambda}(\omega_0)$ which is abbreviated to $\bar{\lambda}$

$$C_{(4)}^{1\text{-loop}} = F(z) \left[\frac{\pi^2}{12} a_1(\bar{\lambda}) - a_0(\bar{\lambda})I_0 + \frac{a_1(\bar{\lambda})}{2}I_0^2 \right].$$
 (5.94)

At two loops, i.e., up to order λ^3 , the equation (5.92) is modified to

$$C_{(4)}(\bar{\lambda}(\mu)) = C_{(4)}(\bar{\lambda}(\mu')) + 4\gamma(\bar{\lambda}(\mu'))\log\frac{\mu}{\mu'}C_{(4)}(\bar{\lambda}(\mu')).$$
(5.95)

We still choose $\mu' = M$ and $\mu = \omega_0$, then it is straightforward to check that the four-point Carrollian amplitude (5.69) at the scale ω_0 is also a function of $\bar{\lambda}$

$$C_{(4)}^{2\text{-loop}} = F(z) \sum_{j=0} b_j(\bar{\lambda}) I_0^j$$
(5.96)

where the coefficients b_j are

$$b_0(\bar{\lambda}) = \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} b_0^{(k)} \bar{\lambda}^k, \qquad b_j(\bar{\lambda}) = \sum_{k=j}^{\infty} b_j^{(k)} \bar{\lambda}^k, \quad j = 1, 2, 3, \cdots.$$
(5.97)

Up to order $\bar{\lambda}^3$, we have

$$b_0^{(2)} = -\frac{1}{64},$$
(5.98a)
$$(z) = -\frac{\pi^2 \log(1-z) + \pi^2 \log(z) + \pi^2 \log((z-1)z) + 24\zeta(3) + 2\pi^2}{1-24\zeta(3) + 2\pi^2}$$

$$b_0^{(3)} = \frac{\pi^2 \log(1-z) + \pi^2 \log(z) + \pi^2 \log((z-1)z) + 24\zeta(3) + 2\pi^2}{1024\pi^4},$$
 (5.98b)

$$b_1^{(1)} = 1,$$
 (5.98c)

$$b_1^{(2)} = -\frac{\log(1-z) + \log(z) + \log((z-1)z)}{32\pi^2},$$
(5.98d)

$$b_1^{(3)} = \frac{1}{1024\pi^4} \Big[3\log^2(1-z) + 3\log^2(z) + 3\log^2((z-1)z) + 4\log(1-z) + 4\log(z) + 4\log((z-1)z) + 8\pi^2 + 18 \Big],$$
(5.98e)

$$b_2^{(2)} = -\frac{3}{32\pi^2},\tag{5.98f}$$

$$b_2^{(3)} = \frac{3(\log(1-z) + \log(z) + \log((z-1)z) + 2)}{512\pi^4},$$
(5.98g)

$$b_3^{(3)} = \frac{3}{256\pi^4}.\tag{5.98h}$$

The relation between the running coupling constant $\bar{\lambda}$ and λ is

$$\lambda = \bar{\lambda} - \frac{3}{16\pi^2} \bar{\lambda}^2 \log \frac{\omega_0}{M} + \frac{9}{256\pi^4} \bar{\lambda}^3 \log^2 \frac{\omega_0}{M} + \frac{17}{768\pi^4} \bar{\lambda}^3 \log \frac{\omega_0}{M} + \cdots$$
 (5.99)

This is consistent with the solution of the β function equation up to $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^3)$:

$$M\frac{\partial}{\partial M}\lambda = \beta(\lambda) \quad \Rightarrow \quad \bar{\lambda} = \lambda + \frac{3}{16\pi^2}\lambda^2\log\frac{\omega_0}{M} + \frac{9}{256\pi^4}\lambda^3\log^2\frac{\omega_0}{M} - \frac{17}{768\pi^4}\lambda^3\log\frac{\omega_0}{M} + \cdots$$
(5.100)

In appendix E, we also discussed the Callan-Symanzik equation for two-point Carrollian amplitude.

6 More Carrollian amplitudes

In the previous sections, we have discussed the four-point Carrollian amplitude in massless Φ^4 theory. Massless Φ^4 theory is the standard QFT whose properties are studied extensively. In this section, we will reverse the method of bulk reduction and try to propose a slightly generalized Φ^4 theory in the context of flat holography. Notice that the key ingredients are the Feynman rules which are inherited from bulk in the previous sections. However, it seems that there is no obstruction to designing the Feynman rules for Carrollian amplitude. We still assume that the boundary Carrollian field theory is Poincaré invariant.

6.1 Description

In this generalized Φ^4 theory, we don't have to write out the Lagrangian explicitly. However, the two-point correlator may be parameterized by the Källén-Lehmann spectral representation

$$G_F(x,y) = \langle \mathbf{0} | T\Phi(x)\Phi(y) | \mathbf{0} \rangle = \int_0^\infty \frac{d\mu^2}{2\pi} \rho(\mu^2) G_F(x-y;\mu^2)$$
(6.1)

where $G_F(x-y;\mu^2)$ is the Feynman propagator for a particle with mass μ . The bulk field Φ still encodes a massless degree of freedom. Therefore, there may be a state that is massless in the spectral density $\rho(\mu^2)$

$$\rho(\mu^2) \sim \delta(\mu^2). \tag{6.2}$$

However, this spectral density will lead to the Feynman propagator in massless Φ^4 theory. For the generalized Φ^4 theory, we will choose the following spectral density

$$\rho(\mu^2) = 2\pi (\mu^2)^{\Delta - 2} Z \tag{6.3}$$

where Z is a renormalization factor which may be absorbed into the redefinition of Φ . The spectral density appears in the context of low-energy effective field theory which is scale invariant [50]. From this spectral density, the two-point correlator in the bulk becomes

$$G_F(x,y) = \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} G_F(p) e^{ip \cdot (x-y)}$$
(6.4)

where

$$G_F(p) = i \left(\frac{1}{-p^2 + i\epsilon}\right)^{2-\Delta}.$$
(6.5)

We have fixed the normalization factor of Φ in this expression. The position space propagator may be fixed by dimensional analysis

$$G_F(x,y) = \theta(x^0 - y^0)W^+(x,y) + \theta(y^0 - x^0)W^-(x,y)$$
(6.6)

where the Wightman functions W^{\pm} are

$$W^{+}(x,y) = \frac{C_{\Delta}}{\left((x^{0} - y^{0} - i\epsilon)^{2} - (x - y)^{2}\right)^{\Delta}},$$
(6.7a)

$$W^{-}(x,y) = \frac{C_{\Delta}}{((x^{0} - y^{0} + i\epsilon)^{2} - (x - y)^{2})^{\Delta}}.$$
(6.7b)

The coefficient C_{Δ} is an unimportant constant that can be fixed by the integration. We have used the $i\epsilon$ prescription and it may be reduced to

$$G_F(x,y) = \frac{C_\Delta}{\left(-(x-y)^2 - i\epsilon\right)^\Delta} \tag{6.8}$$

which is consistent with the Feynman propagator (4.60) in the limit $\Delta \to 1$. Note that the two-point correlator is the same one in conformal field theory. Since the dimension of Φ is Δ , it may be expanded near \mathcal{I}^+ as

$$\Phi(x) = \frac{V(u,\Omega)}{r^{\Delta}} + \cdots .$$
(6.9)

It follows that the transformation law of the boundary field $V(u, \Omega)$ is

$$V'(u',\Omega') = V(u,\Omega), \qquad u' = u - a \cdot n, \quad \Omega' = \Omega$$
(6.10)

for spacetime translation and

$$V'(u',\Omega') = \Gamma^{\Delta}V(u,\Omega), \quad u' = \Gamma^{-1}u, \qquad \mathbf{n}' = \Gamma^{-1}\mathbf{\Gamma}$$
(6.11)

for Lorentz transformation. It follows that the conformal weight of $V(u, \Omega)$ is

$$h = \frac{\Delta}{2}.\tag{6.12}$$

The bound (4.33) on h leads to

$$\Delta \ge 1 \tag{6.13}$$

which is exactly the lower bound of conformal weight for the primary field with s = 0 in unitary CFTs of four dimensions [51]. Using the relation

$$y^{\mu} = \frac{u}{2}(n^{\mu} - \bar{n}^{\mu}) + rn^{\mu}$$
(6.14)

between the Cartesian and retarded coordinates, we find the geodesic distance between x and y

$$(x - y)^{2} = -2r(u + n \cdot x) + \mathcal{O}(r^{0})$$
(6.15)

in the large r limit. Therefore, the external line may be found by taking the limit $r \to \infty$ with u fixed

$$D(u,\Omega;x) = \langle V(u,\Omega)\Phi(x)\rangle = \lim_{+} r^{\Delta}G_{F}(x,y) = \frac{C_{\Delta}}{2^{\Delta}(u+n\cdot x - i\epsilon)^{\Delta}}$$
(6.16)

where we used the limit

$$\lim_{t \to \infty, u \text{ finite}} (6.17)$$

to push the field to the boundary which has been defined in [31]. The $i\epsilon$ prescription is inherited from the Feynman propagator since in this case we have $y^0 > x^0$. Similarly, we also have the relation

$$y^{\mu} = \frac{v}{2}(n^{\mu} - \bar{n}^{\mu}) + r\bar{n}^{\mu}$$
(6.18)

in advanced coordinates. The external line would be

$$D(x;v,\Omega) = \langle \Phi(x)V(v,\Omega) \rangle = \lim_{x \to 0} r^{\Delta}G_F(x,y) = \frac{C_{\Delta}}{(-2)^{\Delta}(v-\bar{n}\cdot x+i\epsilon)^{\Delta}}$$
(6.19)

where

$$\lim_{t \to \infty, v \text{ finite}} \dots \tag{6.20}$$

The antipodal map would be

$$(v, \Omega) \to (u, \Omega^P), \quad V(v, \Omega) \to V(u, \Omega^P)$$
 (6.21)

and then the external lines may be unified as

$$D(u,\Omega;x) = \frac{C_{\Delta}}{(2\sigma)^{\Delta}(u+n\cdot x - i\sigma\epsilon)^{\Delta}}$$
(6.22)

where σ is to take into account the incoming and outgoing states. Its integral representation would be

$$D(u,\Omega;x) = D_{\Delta} \int_0^\infty d\omega \omega^{\Delta-1} e^{-i\sigma\omega(u+n\cdot x-i\sigma\epsilon)}$$
(6.23)

where

$$D_{\Delta} = \left(\frac{i}{2}\right)^{\Delta} \frac{C_{\Delta}}{\Gamma(\Delta)}.$$
(6.24)

We should also design the vertices for the field Φ in the bulk. As massless Φ^4 theory, we assume that there is only one type of vertex in the bulk which corresponds to the interaction of four fields Φ . For each vertex located at x, we should integrate it with

$$-i\lambda \int d^4x. \tag{6.25}$$

Therefore, the generalized Φ^4 theory is described by the propagator (6.4), the external line (6.22) and the vertex (6.25) as well as the symmetry factor.

6.2 Tree level

As in the previous sections, the tree-level four-point Carrollian amplitude in generalized Φ^4 theory is

$$C_{(4)}^{\text{tree}} \equiv \langle \prod_{j=1}^{4} V(u_j, \Omega_j) \rangle$$

= $-i\lambda \int d^4x \prod_{j=1}^{4} D(u_j, \Omega_j; x)$
= $-i\lambda D_{\Delta}^4 \int d^4x \prod_{j=1}^{4} \int_0^\infty d\omega_j \omega_j^{\Delta - 1} e^{-i\sigma_j \omega_j (u_j + n_j \cdot x - i\sigma_j \epsilon)}.$ (6.26)

The integration of the bulk point x leads to the conservation of momentum $p_j = \sigma_j \omega_j n_j$ and we still fix $z_1 = 0, z_3 = 1, z_4 = \infty$ using Lorentz transformation, then

$$C_{(4)}^{\text{tree}} = -i\lambda D_{\Delta}^{4} \prod_{j=1}^{4} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega_{j} \omega_{j}^{\Delta-1} e^{-i\sigma_{j}\omega_{j}u_{j}} (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{4} p_{j}\right)$$
$$= -\lambda F_{\Delta}(z) \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \omega^{4\Delta-5} e^{-i\omega\chi}$$
(6.27)

where χ is exactly the same as (5.9) and the generalized function $F_{\Delta}(z)$ is

$$F_{\Delta}(z) = iD_{\Delta}^{4}(2\pi)^{4} \frac{(1+z^{2})^{\Delta}}{2^{2-\Delta}} z^{2-2\Delta}(z-1)^{2-2\Delta}\Theta(z-1)\delta(\bar{z}-z).$$
(6.28)

As before, we already set $\sigma_1 = \sigma_2 = -1, \sigma_3 = \sigma_4 = 1$ to simplify notation. For $\Delta = 1$, the tree-level result is the same as the massless Φ^4 theory. For $\Delta > 1$, the integral is convergent

$$C_{(4)}^{\text{tree}} = -\lambda F_{\Delta}(z)\Gamma(4\Delta - 4)(i\chi)^{4-4\Delta}.$$
(6.29)

The amplitude is fine for general choices of u_i except for a hyperplane in the (u_1, u_2, u_3, u_4) space defined by the equation

$$\chi = 0. \tag{6.30}$$

Note that the singularity of (6.29) becomes a branch point in massless Φ^4 theory. The physical meaning of this singular plane is unclear at this moment.

6.3 Loop corrections

Now we may evaluate the loop corrections to ensure that the generalized Φ^4 theory is well defined. In the *s* channel, the 1-loop correction is

$$C_{(4)}^{1-\text{loop},s \text{ channel}} = \frac{(-i\lambda)^2}{2} \int d^4x \int d^4y D(u_1,\Omega_1;x) D(u_2,\Omega_2;x) G_F^2(x,y) D(u_3,\Omega_3;y) D(u_4,\Omega_4;y)$$

$$= -\frac{\lambda^2}{2} D_{\Delta}^4 \prod_{j=1}^4 \int_0^\infty d\omega_j \omega_j^{\Delta-1} e^{-i\sigma_j \omega_j u_j} \int \frac{d^4q}{(2\pi)^4} G_F(p_1+p_2+q) G_F(q) (2\pi)^4 \delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{j=1}^4 p_j\right)$$

$$= \frac{(-1)^{-2\Delta} \lambda^2}{2(4\pi)^2} \frac{\Gamma(2-2\Delta)\Gamma^2(\Delta)}{\Gamma(2\Delta)\Gamma^2(2-\Delta)} F_{\Delta}(z) \left(-\frac{4}{z-1}\right)^{2\Delta-2} \Gamma(8\Delta-8)(i\chi)^{8-8\Delta}, \quad \Delta > 1.$$

(6.31)

The integral of the momentum q is divergent superficially and can be obtained by analytic continuation with dimensional regularization [45, 52]. At the last step, we have set $\Delta > 1$. We will discuss a bit more on the coefficient

$$e_{\Delta}^{1\text{-loop}} = \frac{\Gamma(2-2\Delta)\Gamma^2(\Delta)\Gamma(8\Delta-8)}{\Gamma(2\Delta)\Gamma^2(2-\Delta)}.$$
(6.32)

For general $\Delta > 1$, it is well defined except for $\Delta = \frac{3}{2}, \frac{5}{2}, \cdots$, where the coefficient e_{Δ} is always divergent. Another notable feature is that e_{Δ} is always zero for integer $\Delta = 2, 3, 4, \cdots$.

Now we can also include the t, u channel, then the 1-loop correction for the generalized Φ^4 theory is

$$C_{(4)}^{1\text{-loop}} = \frac{(-1)^{-2\Delta}\lambda^2}{2(4\pi)^2} F_{\Delta}(z) e_{\Delta}^{1\text{-loop}} \left\{ \left(-\frac{4}{z-1} \right)^{2\Delta-2} + \left(\frac{4}{z(z-1)} \right)^{2\Delta-2} + \left(\frac{4}{z} \right)^{2\Delta-2} \right\} (i\chi)^{8-8\Delta}.$$
(6.33)

We conclude that the 1-loop correction is free from divergences for $\Delta > 1$ and $\Delta \neq \frac{3}{2}, \frac{5}{2}, \cdots$. For 2-loop corrections, the \mathcal{M} matrix of the first diagram of figure 10 is proportional to the square of the one-loop correction

$$C_{(4)}^{2\text{-loop},1} = -\frac{(-1)^{-4\Delta}\lambda^3}{(4\pi)^4} F_{\Delta}(z) e_{\Delta}^{2\text{-loop},1} \left\{ \left(-\frac{4}{z-1} \right)^{4\Delta-4} + \left(\frac{4}{z(z-1)} \right)^{4\Delta-4} + \left(\frac{4}{z} \right)^{4\Delta-4} \right\} (i\chi)^{12-12\Delta}$$

$$(6.34)$$

with

$$e_{\Delta}^{2\text{-loop},1} = \frac{\Gamma(2-2\Delta)^2 \Gamma(\Delta)^4 \Gamma(12\Delta-12)}{4\Gamma(2-\Delta)^4 \Gamma(2\Delta)^2}.$$
(6.35)

The second diagram vanishes and the contribution of the third diagram is

$$C_{(4)}^{2\text{-loop},3} = -\frac{(-1)^{-4\Delta}\lambda^3}{(4\pi)^4} F_{\Delta}(z) e_{\Delta}^{2\text{-loop},3} \left\{ \left(-\frac{4}{z-1} \right)^{4\Delta-4} + \left(\frac{4}{z(z-1)} \right)^{4\Delta-4} + \left(\frac{4}{z} \right)^{4\Delta-4} \right\} (i\chi)^{12-12\Delta}$$

$$(6.36)$$

with

$$e_{\Delta}^{2\text{-loop},3} = \frac{\Gamma(4-4\Delta)\Gamma(2-2\Delta)\Gamma(\Delta)^2\Gamma(3\Delta-2)^2\Gamma(12\Delta-12)}{\Gamma(2-\Delta)^4\Gamma(2\Delta)\Gamma(4\Delta-2)}.$$
(6.37)

There is a subtlety in the calculation. The Feynman parameterization leads to an integral

$$\int_0^1 dx \int_0^{1-x} dy \ x^{3\Delta+d-7} (1-x-y)^{3\Delta+d-7} y^{3-2\Delta-d/2}$$
(6.38)

which is divergent for $\Delta > 1$ and d = 4. We regularize this integral by restricting d to the range $6 - 3\Delta < d < 8 - 4\Delta$ and then continue it to d = 4. The rest of Feynman diagrams are trivial, since the 1PI bubbles on external legs evaluate zero. Therefore, the nonvanishing two-loop graphs are simply those without 1PI subgraphs on external legs. Sum up all Feynman diagrams contributing to 2-loop corrections and then we can derive the 2-loop correction for the generalized Φ^4 theory:

$$C_{(4)}^{2\text{-loop}} = -\frac{(-1)^{-4\Delta}\lambda^3}{(4\pi)^4} F_{\Delta}(z) e_{\Delta}^{2\text{-loop}} \left\{ \left(-\frac{4}{z-1} \right)^{4\Delta-4} + \left(\frac{4}{z(z-1)} \right)^{4\Delta-4} + \left(\frac{4}{z} \right)^{4\Delta-4} \right\} (i\chi)^{12-12\Delta}$$

$$(6.39)$$

with

$$e_{\Delta}^{2\text{-loop}} = \frac{\Gamma(2-2\Delta)\Gamma(\Delta)^2\Gamma(12\Delta-12)}{\Gamma(2-\Delta)^4\Gamma(2\Delta)} \left(\frac{\Gamma(4-4\Delta)\Gamma(3\Delta-2)^2}{\Gamma(4\Delta-2)} + \frac{\Gamma(2-2\Delta)\Gamma(\Delta)^2}{4\Gamma(2\Delta)}\right)$$
(6.40)

The conclusion is that the four-point Carrollian amplitude of the generalized Φ^4 theory is free from UV and IR divergences up to two-loop level. It seems that the generalized Φ^4 theory is always finite and the β function vanishes, although this conjecture should be checked at higher loops.

7 Conclusion and outlook

In this paper, we work out the details on the Carrollian amplitude in the framework of bulk reduction. Based upon the correspondence between the asymptotic states and the fundamental fields at future/past null infinity, we build the connection between scattering amplitude and Carrollian amplitude. The Carrollian amplitude could be regarded as the correlator with the operators inserted at $\mathcal{I}^+/\mathcal{I}^-$. We derive the Feynman rules to calculate the Carrollian amplitude in Carrollian space. The Feynman rules include the boundary-toboundary propagator which connects the \mathcal{I}^- to \mathcal{I}^+ and the external line which links a bulk field and a boundary field. We also need the standard Feynman rules in the bulk. In this representation, no Fourier transform is needed. Taking advantage of these preparations, we delve into the four-point Carrollian amplitude for massless Φ^4 theory. As a first step, we make use of the Lorentz transformation to fix three operators to $z = 0, 1, \infty$. The resulting amplitude only depends on the cross ratio of the celestial sphere as well as χ , a linear superposition of the inserting time which itself is fixed by translation invariance. Then we compute the four-point Carrollian amplitude up to two loops. At the tree level, the Carrollian amplitude is a linear function of I_0 , whose coefficient is an analytic function of the cross ratio z. Interestingly, the function I_0 also appears in the two-point Carrollian amplitude, although the argument is slightly different. Our results match with recent literature after a suitable Lorentz transformation. At the one-loop level, the Carrollian amplitude is a quadratic polynomial of I_0 , whose coefficients are also functions of the cross ratio. The branch points of the coefficients are related to the unitarity of the scattering amplitude. We find a discontinuity for the Carrollian amplitude when crossing the branch cuts, similar to the Optical theorem of the momentum space scattering amplitude. At the two-loop level, the Carrollian amplitude is a cubic polynomial of I_0 , whose coefficients are much more involved functions of the cross ratio. However, the branch points are still located at $0, 1, \infty$. Note that what we calculated is the renormalized Carrollian amplitude instead of the bare Carrollian amplitude. The coupling constant in the expressions depends on the observational energy scale M. We have checked the consistency of the renormalized Carrollian amplitude under renormalization group flow, i.e., Callan-Symanzik equation of the Carrollian amplitude is satisfied. One should also notice that the infrared divergences are avoided by carefully discarding the IR modes of one of the boundary fields. Based on these results, it is natural to conjecture that the n-loop results for the perturbative Carrollian amplitude is a polynomial of I_0 with degree n+1

$$C_{(n)}^{n-\text{loop}} = F(z) \sum_{j=0}^{n+1} a_j I_0^j$$
(7.1)

where a_j are functions of the cross ratio and free from UV divergences. They depend on the renormalized coupling constant and the energy scale as well as the IR cutoff ω_0 . There are various open questions that deserve further study.

- We only compute the four-point Carrollian amplitude for massless scalar theory up to 2-loop level in this work. It is nice to extend it to higher loops and a resummation of the perturbative corrections is also interesting. One can also extend the results to higher point Carrollian amplitudes. The massless Φ^4 theory suffers dynamical symmetry breaking due to Coleman-Weinberg mechanism [53] where the effective potential receives quantum corrections such that the vacuum expectation value of Φ becomes nontrivial. As a consequence, the massless scalar requires a nonvanishing mass. Still, the Carrollian amplitude for massless Φ^4 theory suffers dynamical symmetry be extended to nontrivial theories with nonvanishing helicities.
- Our results show that Carrollian amplitude is a natural quantity in Carrollian space for massless theory, even at the loop level. All the nice properties in momentum space scattering amplitude may reflect in Carrollian amplitude. In this work, the four-point Carrollian amplitude only depends on two variables z and χ as a consequence of Poincaré

symmetry. The two variables factorize in the Carrollian amplitude. The Carrollian amplitude, as a function of complex z, has branch cuts at the loop level, which reflects the unitarity of the S matrix. On the other hand, as a function of χ , it also has a branch point or isolated singularity at $\chi = 0$ which is a hyperplane in the parametric space of the retarded time. In the program of S matrix bootstrap [54], the analytic properties, such as poles and branch cuts are rather important to determine the complete S matrix. In the Carrollian amplitude approach, the poles and branch cuts are transferred to the analytic properties of the four-point amplitude, which is the function of two complex variables. There may be a "Carrollian amplitude bootstrap" by imposing nice properties on the Carrollian amplitude and determining it completely. This program deserves further study in the future.

- Feynman rule for Carrollian amplitude from boundary field theory. In our work, the bulk theory is the well-known massless scalar theory and the boundary theory is found by bulk reduction. Given a boundary theory without the knowledge of the bulk theory, it would be fine to find out the corresponding Feynman rules to derive the Carrollian amplitude. Based on this observation, we try to design the Feynman rules in a toy model, i.e., generalized Φ^4 theory to construct the Carrollian amplitude. The spectral density in our toy model takes the form of the unparticle of scale dimension Δ whose Lagrangian is unusual. Using Feynman rules instead of bulk scattering amplitudes, we finally arrive at results of Carrollian amplitudes free from UV and IR divergences at two loops, which suggests that the model may possess better UV and IR properties. If we further relax the constraint on Δ , we notice that the propagator here may be related to the higher derivative scalar field theories which may be traced back to [55]. Higher derivative theories usually have better ultraviolet behavior than the familiar second derivative theories. However, generally, they may suffer Ostrogradsky instability [56] and in the quantum version, there would be ghosts with negative norms which make the theory non-unitary [57]. There are also discussions on the higher derivative theories motivated by AdS/CFT [58] and it is shown that the interacting theory may capture the critical behaviour around the Wilson-Fisher fixed point [59]. Interestingly, it has been shown that higher derivative theories can be free from negative modes in some special cases [60]. It would be rather interesting to explore various aspects of these theories in the context of Carrollian amplitude.
- Carrollian diffeomorphism. In this work, we derive the Carrollian amplitude without touching the Carrollian diffeomorphism, which is shown to transform the boundary fields in a nontrivial way in a series of papers [24, 29–33]. For example, for a general supertranslation which is generated by $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{f}$, we have

$$\delta_f \Sigma(u, \Omega) = -f(u, \Omega) \dot{\Sigma}(u, \Omega).$$
(7.2)

In the language of boundary state $|\Sigma(u, \Omega)\rangle$, the infinitesimal transformation of the boundary state would be

$$|\Sigma'(u,\Omega)\rangle = |\Sigma(u,\Omega)\rangle - f(u,\Omega)|\dot{\Sigma}(u,\Omega)\rangle.$$
(7.3)



Figure 13. Variation of S matrix under infinitesimal Carrollian diffeomorphism. The asymptotic states are denoted as $|in\rangle$ and $|out\rangle$. They are transformed to the states $|in_{\xi}\rangle$ and $|out_{\xi}\rangle$, respectively.

In terms of the flux operators Q_{ξ} defined at the null boundary, the transformation may be written as

$$|\Sigma'(u,\Omega)\rangle = |\Sigma(u,\Omega)\rangle + Q_{\boldsymbol{\xi}}|\Sigma(u,\Omega)\rangle.$$
(7.4)

This shows that the asymptotic state is transformed to another state which is physically distinguishable and the Fock space of the incoming and outgoing states should be organized by the Carrollian diffeomorphism. As a consequence, the S matrix

$$\operatorname{out} \langle \prod_{k=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma(u_k, \Omega_k) | \prod_{k=1}^m \Xi(v_k, \Omega_k^P) \rangle_{\operatorname{in}}$$
(7.5)

should be transformed to

$$\sup \left\langle \prod_{k=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma'(u_k, \Omega_k) \right| \prod_{k=1}^m \Xi'(v_k, \Omega_k^P) \right\rangle_{\text{in}}$$

$$= \sup \left\langle \prod_{k=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma(u_k, \Omega_k) \right| \prod_{k=1}^m \Xi(v_k, \Omega_k^P) \right\rangle_{\text{in}} + \sup \left\langle \prod_{k=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma(u_k, \Omega_k) \right| Q_{\boldsymbol{\xi}} \left| \prod_{k=1}^m \Xi(v_k, \Omega_k^P) \right\rangle_{\text{in}}.$$

$$(7.6)$$

The flux operator Q_{ξ} is $Q_{\xi}^{(+/-)}$ at $\mathcal{I}^{+/-}$ and therefore the last term of the above equation would be

$$\delta_{\boldsymbol{\xi}}S(m \to n) = \langle \prod_{k=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma(u_k, \Omega_k) | Q_{\boldsymbol{\xi}}^{(+)}S - SQ_{\boldsymbol{\xi}}^{(-)} | \prod_{k=1}^m \Xi(v_k, \Omega_k^P) \rangle,$$
(7.7)

where the minus sign before $Q_{\xi}^{(-)}$ is from sign flip by the definition of the flux operator at \mathcal{I}^- . The notation $\delta_{\xi}S(m \to n)$ is the transformation of $m \to n$ scattering matrix under (infinitesimal) Carrollian diffeomorphism. The variation of S matrix under infinitesimal Carrollian diffeomorphism is shown in figure 13. Usually, for a Poincaré transformation, the S matrix should be invariant and the previous equation becomes zero, leading to

the Ward identity. However, for a general Carrollian diffeomorphism, the equation (7.7) is already nonvanishing at the classical level [32]

$$Q_{\boldsymbol{\xi}}^{(+)} - Q_{\boldsymbol{\xi}}^{(-)} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\text{bulk}} d^4 x T^{\mu\nu} \delta_{\boldsymbol{\xi}} g_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (7.8)

When there is no anomaly, the above classical equation may be turned into the quantum version [29]

$$\delta_{\boldsymbol{\xi}}S(m \to n) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\text{bulk}} d^4x \, \operatorname{out} \langle \prod_{k=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma(u_k, \Omega_k) | T^{\mu\nu} \delta_{\boldsymbol{\xi}} g_{\mu\nu} | \prod_{k=1}^m \Xi(v_k, \Omega_k^P) \rangle_{\text{in}}.$$
(7.9)

Note that the flux operator is constructed from the hard part of the flux. For BMS transformation, the right-hand side of (7.9) should be equal to the contribution from one additional soft mode insertion, as has been found by [12]

$$\delta_{\boldsymbol{\xi}} S(m \to n) = \underset{k=m+1}{\text{out}} \langle \prod_{k=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma(u_k, \Omega_k) | \text{ soft graviton } | \prod_{k=1}^m \Xi(v_k, \Omega_k^P) \rangle_{\text{in}}.$$
(7.10)

For Carrollian diffeomorphism, the right-hand side may be modified to the insertion of a graviton into the scattering amplitude which is induced by Carrollian diffeomorphism (CD) in the bulk

$$\delta_{\boldsymbol{\xi}} S(m \to n) = \operatorname{out} \langle \prod_{k=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma(u_k, \Omega_k) | \text{ graviton induced by CD} | \prod_{k=1}^m \Xi(v_k, \Omega_k^P) \rangle_{\text{in.}}$$
(7.11)

The equivalence between (7.9) and (7.11) should be checked in the context of flat holography. The essential part of the right-hand side of (7.9) is the insertion of the stress tensor in the Carrollian amplitude

$$\operatorname{out} \langle \prod_{k=m+1}^{m+n} \Sigma(u_k, \Omega_k) | T^{\mu\nu}(x) | \prod_{k=1}^m \Xi(v_k, \Omega_k^P) \rangle_{\text{in}}.$$
(7.12)

In the momentum space, the energy-momentum tensor matrix becomes

_{out}
$$\langle \boldsymbol{p}_{m+1}\cdots\boldsymbol{p}_{m+n}|T^{\mu\nu}(q)|\boldsymbol{p}_{1}\cdots\boldsymbol{p}_{m}\rangle_{\text{in}}$$
 (7.13)

and reduces to the gravitational form factors [61-63] in the $1 \rightarrow 1$ scattering process. It would be very interesting to explore this issue in the future.

Acknowledgments

The work of J.L. was supported by NSFC Grant No. 12005069. The work of W.-B.Liu is supported by "the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities" with No. YCJJ20242112.

A Doppler effect

We assume that the light is emitted by an inertial observer A. In the reference frame Σ_A of the inertial observer, the light propagates in the direction of \boldsymbol{n} and its frequency is $\omega_A = \omega$. Then in the frame Σ_A the four-momentum of the light is

$$p^{\mu} = \omega(1, \boldsymbol{n}). \tag{A.1}$$

The light is detected by another observer B with constant velocity β with respect to A, four-velocity of B in the frame Σ_A is

$$u_B^{\mu} = \gamma(1, \beta), \qquad \gamma = (1 - \beta^2)^{-1/2}.$$
 (A.2)

Therefore, the frequency observed by B is

$$\omega_B = -u_B^{\mu} p_{\mu} = \gamma \omega (1 - \boldsymbol{\beta} \cdot \boldsymbol{n}). \tag{A.3}$$

There is a redshift for the frequency of the light which is exactly the Γ defined in the context

$$\frac{\omega_B}{\omega_A} = \gamma (1 - \boldsymbol{\beta} \cdot \boldsymbol{n}) = \Gamma.$$
(A.4)

B Split representation of the Feynman propagator

In this section, we will derive the split representation of the Feynman propagator (4.63). We will prove it for $x^0 > y^0$. The right-hand side of (4.63) is

r.h.s. =
$$2i \int du d\Omega D^*(u, \Omega; x) \partial_u D(u, \Omega; y)$$

= $-\frac{i}{32\pi^4} \int du d\Omega \frac{1}{(u+n\cdot x+i\epsilon)(u+n\cdot y-i\epsilon)^2}$. (B.1)

The integrand has two poles in the complex u plane

$$u_x = -n \cdot x - i\epsilon, \quad u_y = -n \cdot y + i\epsilon$$
 (B.2)

where u_x locates in the lower plane and u_y locates in the upper plane. We may use residue theorem to evaluate the integration. In the first method, we choose the contour C_1 in the lower complex u plane and only the residue at $u = u_x$ contributes

r.h.s. =
$$-2\pi i \times \left(-\frac{i}{32\pi^4}\right) \int d\Omega \operatorname{Res}_{u=u_x} \frac{1}{(u+n\cdot x+i\epsilon)(u+n\cdot y-i\epsilon)^2}$$

= $-\frac{1}{16\pi^3} \int d\Omega \frac{1}{(n\cdot (x-y)+i\epsilon)^2}.$ (B.3)

We may also choose the contour C_2 in the upper complex u plane and then we can pick up the residue at $u = u_y$

r.h.s. =
$$2\pi i \times \left(-\frac{i}{32\pi^4}\right) \int d\Omega \operatorname{Res}_{u=u_y} \frac{1}{(u+n\cdot x+i\epsilon)(u+n\cdot y-i\epsilon)^2}$$

= $-\frac{1}{16\pi^3} \int d\Omega \frac{1}{(n\cdot (x-y)+i\epsilon)^2}.$ (B.4)



Figure 14. The integrand is singular at $u = u_x$ and u_y in the complex u plane. We also show the contours C_1 (the red curve) and C_2 (the blue curve) to evaluate the integral.

The result matches with the one using the first method. The contour C_1 and C_2 as well as the poles u_x, u_y are shown in figure 14. Now the integration becomes

r.h.s.
$$= -\frac{1}{16\pi^3} \int d\Omega \frac{1}{\left(-(x^0 - y^0 - i\epsilon) + \boldsymbol{n} \cdot (\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{y})\right)^2} \\ = -\frac{1}{16\pi^3} \int \sin \gamma d\gamma d\phi \frac{1}{\left(-(x^0 - y^0 - i\epsilon) + |\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{y}| \sin \gamma\right)^2} \\ = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \frac{1}{|\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{y}|^2 - (x^0 - y^0 - i\epsilon)^2}.$$
(B.5)

Since $x^0 > y^0$, the result can be rewritten as

r.h.s. =
$$\frac{1}{4\pi^2 \left((x-y)^2 + i\epsilon \right)} = G_F(x,y).$$
 (B.6)

C The cross ratio and s, t, u channels

For brevity, we define

$$\Theta_{\sigma_1 \sigma_2 \sigma_3 \sigma_4} = \Theta\left(-\frac{\sigma_4}{z\sigma_1}\right) \Theta\left(\frac{1+z^2}{z(1-z)}\frac{\sigma_4}{\sigma_2}\right) \Theta\left(-\frac{2}{1-z}\frac{\sigma_4}{\sigma_3}\right).$$
(C.1)

In the context, we find that Θ_{--++} is nonvanishing only for z > 1

$$\Theta_{--++} = \Theta(z-1). \tag{C.2}$$

In the following table 1, we find the range of z with nonvanishing $\Theta_{\sigma_1\sigma_2\sigma_3\sigma_4}$ for all permutations of $\sigma_1\sigma_2\sigma_3\sigma_4$. It shows that the value of z should be in the range z > 1 for s channel, 0 < z < 1 for t channel and z < 0 for u channel.

σ_1	σ_2	σ_3	σ_4	z	
_	_	+	+	$(1,\infty)$	
_	+	_	+	(0,1)	
_	+	+	_	$(-\infty,0)$	
+	_	_	+	$(-\infty,0)$	
+	_	+	_	(0,1)	
+	+	_	_	$(1,\infty)$	

Table 1. The value of z with nonvanishing $\Theta_{\sigma_1 \sigma_2 \sigma_3 \sigma_4}$.

D Incomplete Gamma function and related integrals

In the context, we have defined the following integral

$$J(q,\chi,\omega_0) = \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega}{\omega^{1-q}} e^{-i\omega\chi} \Theta(\omega - \omega_0)$$
(D.1)

which can be used to generate the following classes of integrals

$$J_n(\chi,\omega_0) = \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega}{\omega} \log^n \omega e^{-i\omega\chi} \Theta(\omega-\omega_0) = \lim_{q \to 0} \frac{d^n}{dq^n} J(q,\chi,\omega_0).$$
(D.2)

By inserting a $-i\epsilon$ into χ factor, the integral can be found as

$$J(q,\chi,\omega_0) = (i\chi)^{-q} \Gamma(q,i\omega_0\chi)$$
(D.3)

where χ should be understood as $\chi - i\epsilon$. The incomplete Gamma function is defined as [64]

$$\Gamma(q,x) = \int_x^\infty dt \ t^{q-1} e^{-t}.$$
 (D.4)

It is the Gamma function for x = 0

$$\Gamma(q, x = 0) = \Gamma(q). \tag{D.5}$$

The Digamma function is the derivative of the logarithmic of the Gamma function

$$\psi(q) = \frac{d}{dq} \log \Gamma(q) = \frac{\Gamma'(q)}{\Gamma(q)}.$$
 (D.6)

The Digamma function is analytic on the complex plane except for the points $q = 0, -1, -2, -3, \cdots$ where the function is singular. The Digamma function satisfies the recurrence formula

$$\psi(q+1) = \psi(q) + \frac{1}{q}.$$
 (D.7)

The Euler constant γ_E is related to the Digamma function by

$$\psi(1) = -\gamma_E. \tag{D.8}$$

Therefore, we may use the relation (D.7) to find the exact value of $\psi(n)$, $n = 1, 2, 3, \cdots$. The duplication formula for the Digamma function is

$$\psi(2q) = \frac{1}{2}\psi(q) + \frac{1}{2}\psi\left(q + \frac{1}{2}\right) + \log 2.$$
 (D.9)

Setting $q = \frac{1}{2}$ and combining with (D.8), we find

$$\psi\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) = -\gamma_E - 2\log 2. \tag{D.10}$$

It follows that

$$\psi\left(\frac{3}{2}\right) = 2 - \gamma_E - 2\log 2. \tag{D.11}$$

The n-th derivative of the Digamma function is defined as

$$\psi^{(n)}(q) = \frac{d^n}{dq^n}\psi(q). \tag{D.12}$$

In the IR region $\omega_0 \to 0$ and near q = 0, we may write the result (D.3) as

$$J(q,\chi,\omega_0) = \Gamma(q)(i\chi)^{-q} - \frac{\omega_0^q}{q} + \mathcal{O}(\omega_0).$$
 (D.13)

By taking the limit $q \to 0$, we find

$$\lim_{q \to 0} \frac{d^n}{dq^n} J(q, \chi, \omega_0) = \lim_{q \to 0} \frac{d^n}{dq^n} \left[\Gamma(q)(i\chi)^{-q} - \frac{\omega_0^q}{q} + \mathcal{O}(\omega_0) \right]$$
(D.14)

which follows that

$$\lim_{q \to 0} J(q, \chi, \omega_0) = -I_0, \tag{D.15a}$$

$$\lim_{q \to 0} \frac{d}{dq} J(q, \chi, \omega_0) = \frac{I_0^2}{2} - I_0 \log \omega_0 + \frac{\pi^2}{12},$$
(D.15b)

$$\lim_{q \to 0} \frac{d^2}{dq^2} J(q, \chi, \omega_0) = -\frac{I_0^3}{3} + I_0^2 \log \omega_0 - I_0 \left(\log^2 \omega_0 + \frac{\pi^2}{6} \right) + \frac{1}{6} [\pi^2 \log \omega_0 + 2\psi^{(2)}(1)],$$
(D.15c)

$$\lim_{q \to 0} \frac{d^3}{dq^3} J(q,\chi,\omega_0) = \frac{I_0^4}{4} - I_0^3 \log \omega_0 + I_0^2 \frac{1}{4} (\pi^2 + 6\log^2 \omega_0) - I_0 \left[\log \omega_0^3 + \frac{\pi^2}{2} \log \omega_0 + \psi^{(2)}(1) + \frac{1}{4} \pi^2 \log^2 \omega_0 + \psi^{(2)}(1) \log \omega_0 + \frac{3\pi^4}{80} \right]$$
(D.15d)

where we have defined

$$I_0 = \gamma_E + \log i\omega_0 \chi. \tag{D.16}$$

The integrals $J_n(\chi, \omega_0)$ are always finite for any $n = 0, 1, 2, 3, \cdots$.

E Callan-Symanzik equation for two-point Carrollian amplitude

The Callan-Symanzik equation for two-point Carrollian amplitude is

$$M\frac{\partial}{\partial M}C_{(2)} + \beta \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda}C_{(2)} - 2\gamma C_{(2)} = 0.$$
(E.1)

Since $C_{(2)}$ has been fixed to (4.23) by Poincaré symmetry up to a normalization factor N, the equation becomes a constraint for N

$$M\frac{\partial}{\partial M}N + \beta\frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda}N - 2\gamma N = 0.$$
 (E.2)

Since $\gamma \neq 0$, the normalization N should depend on the energy scale M and the coupling constant λ . Then it is evolved into the scale μ through the solution of (E.2)

$$N(\bar{\lambda}(\mu)) = \exp[2\int_{M}^{\mu} \frac{d\mu'}{\mu'} \gamma(\bar{\lambda}(\mu'))] N(\lambda).$$
 (E.3)

Now we will calculate the normalization factor N up to 2-loop. The relevant diagram is the sunset diagram

$$i\mathcal{M}_{\text{sunset}}^{2\text{-loop}}(p) = \frac{(-i\lambda)^2}{6} \bar{M}^{2\varepsilon} \int \frac{d^d p_1}{(2\pi)^d} \int \frac{d^d p_2}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{-i}{p_1^2} \frac{-i}{p_2^2} \frac{-i}{(p-p_1-p_2)^2}$$
$$= i\frac{\lambda^2}{6\times(4\pi)^d} \bar{M}^{2\varepsilon} \Gamma(3-d) B(\frac{d}{2}-1,\frac{d}{2}-1) B(\frac{d}{2}-1,d-2)(p^2)^{d-3}$$
$$= i\frac{\lambda^2}{12\times(4\pi)^4} p^2 \left(-\frac{1}{\varepsilon} + \log\frac{p^2}{M^2} - \log 4 - \frac{5}{4}\right),$$
(E.4)

where the Beta function B(p,q) is defined as

$$B(p,q) = \frac{\Gamma(p)\Gamma(q)}{\Gamma(p+q)}.$$
(E.5)

The divergence $1/\varepsilon$ is canceled by a counter diagram and then the 2-loop correction to the two-point amplitude is

$$i\mathcal{M}^{2-\text{loop}}(p) = i\frac{\lambda^2}{12\times(4\pi)^4}p^2\left(\log\frac{p^2}{M^2} - \log 4 - \frac{5}{4}\right).$$
 (E.6)

The result is the same as the Problem 10.3 of [37]. It seems that the amplitude is 0 on shell since the particle is massless and then the two-point Carrollian amplitude receives no contribution at 2-loop level. However, we will work out the details to transform it to the Carrollian amplitude

$$C_{(2)}^{2\text{-loop}} = \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^2 i}\right)^2 \int_0^\infty d\omega_1 \int_0^\infty d\omega_2 e^{i\omega_1 u_1 - i\omega_2 u_2} (2\pi)^4 \delta^{(4)}(p_1 - p_2) i p_1^2 \mathrm{U}(p_1^2)$$
(E.7)

where we have defined a function $U(p^2)$ through

$$U(p^2) = \frac{\lambda^2}{12 \times (4\pi)^4} \left(\log \frac{p^2}{M^2} - \log 4 - \frac{5}{4} \right)$$
(E.8)

which is divergent in the limit $p^2 \to 0$. Note that we have flipped the sign of the incoming momentum in the context and parameterized the momenta p_1 and p_2 as

$$p_1 = \omega_1 n_1, \quad p_2 = \omega_2 n_2.$$
 (E.9)

The Dirac delta function is

$$(2\pi)^4 \delta^{(4)}(p_1 - p_2) = (2\pi)^4 \delta^{(3)}(\boldsymbol{p}_1 - \boldsymbol{p}_2) \delta(\omega_1 - \omega_2).$$
(E.10)

The last term is divergent as $\delta(\omega_1 - \omega_2) = \delta(0)$ on-shell since $p_1 = p_2$. However, we also notice that $p_1^2 = 0$ and we will argue that the product $(2\pi)^4 \delta^{(4)}(p_1 - p_2)p_1^2$ could be replaced by

$$(2\pi)^4 \delta^{(4)}(p_1 - p_2) p_1^2 \to \text{const.} \times \omega_1 (2\pi)^3 \delta^{(3)}(p_1 - p_2)$$
 (E.11)

in the integrand. The factor ω_1 is fixed by dimensional analysis and the constant may be fixed by comparing it with the tree-level two-point Carrollian amplitude which is a Fourier transform of the two-point amplitude

$$C_{(2)}^{\text{tree}} = \left(\frac{1}{8\pi^2 i}\right)^2 \int_0^\infty d\omega_1 \int_0^\infty d\omega_2 e^{i\omega_1 u_1 - i\omega_2 u_2} (2\pi)^4 \delta^{(4)}(p_1 - p_2)(ip_1^2).$$
(E.12)

The replacement rule (E.11) follows from comparing (E.12) with (4.1) and (4.2) in which const. = -2i. Then the 2-loop correction has the same form as the tree level, except a $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)$ correction from $U(p_1^2)$. The logarithmic IR divergence of $U(p_1^2)$ may be cured by setting p_1^2 to a spacelike momentum $-\mu^2$. As will be shown, the IR divergence doesn't affect the discussion. We will not focus on it in this work. Therefore, we find the following correction for the normalization factor N

$$N^{2-\text{loop}} = N^{\text{tree}}(1 + U(-\mu^2)).$$
(E.13)

Note that

$$M\frac{\partial}{\partial M}N^{2\text{-loop}} = -2 \times \frac{\lambda^2}{12 \times (4\pi)^4} N^{\text{tree}} = 2\gamma^{(2)}\lambda^2 N^{\text{tree}}$$
(E.14)

and $\beta = \mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)$, the Callan-Symanzik equation (E.2) is satisfied.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- H. Bondi, M.G.J. van der Burg and A.W.K. Metzner, Gravitational waves in general relativity. VII. Waves from axisymmetric isolated systems, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 269 (1962) 21 [INSPIRE].
- [2] R.K. Sachs, Gravitational waves in general relativity. VIII. Waves in asymptotically flat space-times, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 270 (1962) 103 [INSPIRE].
- [3] R. Sachs, Asymptotic symmetries in gravitational theory, Phys. Rev. 128 (1962) 2851 [INSPIRE].

- [4] G. Arcioni and C. Dappiaggi, Holography in asymptotically flat space-times and the BMS group, Class. Quant. Grav. 21 (2004) 5655 [hep-th/0312186] [INSPIRE].
- [5] G. Barnich and G. Compère, Classical central extension for asymptotic symmetries at null infinity in three spacetime dimensions, Class. Quant. Grav. 24 (2007) F15 [gr-qc/0610130] [INSPIRE].
- [6] G. Barnich and C. Troessaert, Aspects of the BMS/CFT correspondence, JHEP 05 (2010) 062 [arXiv:1001.1541] [INSPIRE].
- [7] C. Duval, G.W. Gibbons and P.A. Horvathy, Conformal Carroll groups and BMS symmetry, Class. Quant. Grav. 31 (2014) 092001 [arXiv:1402.5894] [INSPIRE].
- [8] C. Duval, G.W. Gibbons and P.A. Horvathy, Conformal Carroll groups, J. Phys. A 47 (2014) 335204 [arXiv:1403.4213] [INSPIRE].
- [9] J.M. Lévy-Leblond, Une nouvelle limite non-relativiste du groupe de Poincaré, Ann. Inst. H Poincaré 3 (1965) 1.
- [10] N.D. Sen Gupta, On an analogue of the Galilei group, Nuovo Cim. A 44 (1966) 512 [INSPIRE].
- [11] S. Pasterski, S.-H. Shao and A. Strominger, Flat Space Amplitudes and Conformal Symmetry of the Celestial Sphere, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 065026 [arXiv:1701.00049] [INSPIRE].
- [12] A. Strominger, On BMS Invariance of Gravitational Scattering, JHEP 07 (2014) 152 [arXiv:1312.2229] [INSPIRE].
- S. Pasterski and S.-H. Shao, Conformal basis for flat space amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 065022 [arXiv:1705.01027] [INSPIRE].
- [14] S. Pasterski, S.-H. Shao and A. Strominger, Gluon Amplitudes as 2d Conformal Correlators, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 085006 [arXiv:1706.03917] [INSPIRE].
- [15] A. Strominger, Lectures on the Infrared Structure of Gravity and Gauge Theory, arXiv:1703.05448 [INSPIRE].
- [16] A. Schreiber, A. Volovich and M. Zlotnikov, Tree-level gluon amplitudes on the celestial sphere, Phys. Lett. B 781 (2018) 349 [arXiv:1711.08435] [INSPIRE].
- [17] N. Arkani-Hamed, M. Pate, A.-M. Raclariu and A. Strominger, Celestial amplitudes from UV to IR, JHEP 08 (2021) 062 [arXiv:2012.04208] [INSPIRE].
- [18] A. Puhm, Conformally Soft Theorem in Gravity, JHEP 09 (2020) 130 [arXiv:1905.09799]
 [INSPIRE].
- [19] N. Banerjee, S. Banerjee, S. Atul Bhatkar and S. Jain, Conformal Structure of Massless Scalar Amplitudes Beyond Tree level, JHEP 04 (2018) 039 [arXiv:1711.06690] [INSPIRE].
- [20] S. Albayrak, C. Chowdhury and S. Kharel, On loop celestial amplitudes for gauge theory and gravity, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 126020 [arXiv:2007.09338] [INSPIRE].
- [21] H.A. González, A. Puhm and F. Rojas, Loop corrections to celestial amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 126027 [arXiv:2009.07290] [INSPIRE].
- [22] L. Donnay, A. Fiorucci, Y. Herfray and R. Ruzziconi, Carrollian Perspective on Celestial Holography, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129 (2022) 071602 [arXiv:2202.04702] [INSPIRE].
- [23] L. Donnay, A. Fiorucci, Y. Herfray and R. Ruzziconi, Bridging Carrollian and celestial holography, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 126027 [arXiv:2212.12553] [INSPIRE].
- [24] W.-B. Liu and J. Long, Symmetry group at future null infinity: Scalar theory, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 126002 [arXiv:2210.00516] [INSPIRE].

- [25] J. Salzer, An embedding space approach to Carrollian CFT correlators for flat space holography, JHEP **10** (2023) 084 [arXiv:2304.08292] [INSPIRE].
- [26] K. Nguyen, Carrollian conformal correlators and massless scattering amplitudes, JHEP 01 (2024) 076 [arXiv:2311.09869] [INSPIRE].
- [27] S. Banerjee, S. Ghosh, P. Pandey and A.P. Saha, Modified celestial amplitude in Einstein gravity, JHEP 03 (2020) 125 [arXiv:1909.03075] [INSPIRE].
- [28] L. Mason, R. Ruzziconi and A. Yelleshpur Srikant, Carrollian Amplitudes and Celestial Symmetries, arXiv:2312.10138 [INSPIRE].
- [29] W.-B. Liu and J. Long, Holographic dictionary from bulk reduction, Phys. Rev. D 109 (2024) L061901 [arXiv:2401.11223] [INSPIRE].
- [30] W.-B. Liu and J. Long, Symmetry group at future null infinity II: Vector theory, JHEP 07 (2023) 152 [arXiv:2304.08347] [INSPIRE].
- [31] W.-B. Liu and J. Long, Symmetry group at future null infinity III: Gravitational theory, JHEP 10 (2023) 117 [arXiv:2307.01068] [INSPIRE].
- [32] A. Li, W.-B. Liu, J. Long and R.-Z. Yu, Quantum flux operators for Carrollian diffeomorphism in general dimensions, JHEP 11 (2023) 140 [arXiv:2309.16572] [INSPIRE].
- [33] W.-B. Liu, J. Long and X.-H. Zhou, Quantum flux operators in higher spin theories, Phys. Rev. D 109 (2024) 086012 [arXiv:2311.11361] [INSPIRE].
- [34] A. Ashtekar, Radiative Degrees of Freedom of the Gravitational Field in Exact General Relativity, J. Math. Phys. 22 (1981) 2885 [INSPIRE].
- [35] A. Ashtekar, Asymptotic Quantization of the Gravitational Field, Phys. Rev. Lett. 46 (1981) 573 [INSPIRE].
- [36] A. Ashtekar, Asymptotic Quantization: Based on 1984 Naples Lectures, Bibliopolis (1987) [INSPIRE].
- [37] M.E. Peskin and D.V. Schroeder, An Introduction to Quantum Field Theory, Addison-Wesley (1995) [D0I:10.1201/9780429503559].
- [38] G. Strang, Introduction to Linear Algebra, sixth edition, Cambridge University Press (2023) [ISBN:9781733146678].
- [39] S. Hollands, A. Ishibashi and R.M. Wald, BMS Supertranslations and Memory in Four and Higher Dimensions, Class. Quant. Grav. 34 (2017) 155005 [arXiv:1612.03290] [INSPIRE].
- [40] G. Compère, R. Oliveri and A. Seraj, The Poincaré and BMS flux-balance laws with application to binary systems, JHEP 10 (2020) 116 [arXiv:1912.03164] [INSPIRE].
- [41] K.G. Chetyrkin, A.L. Kataev and F.V. Tkachov, New approach to evaluation of multiloop feynman integrals: The Gegenbauer polynomial x-space technique, Nucl. Phys. B 174 (1980) 345 [INSPIRE].
- [42] R. Penrose and W. Rindler, Spinors and Space-Time, Cambridge University Press (1986)
 [D0I:10.1017/cbo9780511524486].
- [43] N.D. Birrell and P.C.W. Davies, Quantum Fields in Curved Space, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, U.K. (1984) [D0I:10.1017/CB09780511622632] [INSPIRE].
- [44] M.S. Costa, V. Gonçalves and J. Penedones, Spinning AdS Propagators, JHEP 09 (2014) 064
 [arXiv:1404.5625] [INSPIRE].

- [45] G. 't Hooft and M.J.G. Veltman, Regularization and Renormalization of Gauge Fields, Nucl. Phys. B 44 (1972) 189 [INSPIRE].
- [46] J. Zinn-Justin, Quantum Field Theory and Critical Phenomena fifth edition, Oxford University Press, Oxford (2021) [DDI:10.1093/0so/9780198834625.001.0001].
- [47] G. Leibbrandt, Introduction to the Technique of Dimensional Regularization, Rev. Mod. Phys. 47 (1975) 849 [INSPIRE].
- [48] S. Weinzierl, Feynman Integrals, arXiv:2201.03593 [D0I:10.1007/978-3-030-99558-4] [INSPIRE].
- [49] H. Kleinert and V. Schulte-Frohlinde, *Critical Properties of* ϕ^4 *Theories*, World Scientific (2001) [D0I:10.1142/4733].
- [50] H. Georgi, Unparticle physics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98 (2007) 221601 [hep-ph/0703260] [INSPIRE].
- [51] G. Mack, All unitary ray representations of the conformal group SU(2,2) with positive energy, Commun. Math. Phys. 55 (1977) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [52] G.M. Cicuta and E. Montaldi, Analytic renormalization via continuous space dimension, Lett. Nuovo Cim. 4 (1972) 329 [INSPIRE].
- [53] S.R. Coleman and E.J. Weinberg, Radiative Corrections as the Origin of Spontaneous Symmetry Breaking, Phys. Rev. D 7 (1973) 1888 [INSPIRE].
- [54] G. Chew, S-matrix theory of strong interactions, Benjamin Publisher, New York (1961).
- [55] A. Pais and G.E. Uhlenbeck, On field theories with nonlocalized action, Phys. Rev. 79 (1950) 145 [INSPIRE].
- [56] M. Ostrogradsky, Mémoire sur les équations différentielles relatives au problème des isopérimètres, Mem. Ac. St. Petersbourg VI 4 (1850) 385.
- [57] K.S. Stelle, Renormalization of Higher Derivative Quantum Gravity, Phys. Rev. D 16 (1977) 953
 [INSPIRE].
- [58] C. Brust and K. Hinterbichler, Free \Box^k scalar conformal field theory, JHEP **02** (2017) 066 [arXiv:1607.07439] [INSPIRE].
- [59] J.A. Gracey and R.M. Simms, Higher dimensional higher derivative φ⁴ theory, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 025022 [arXiv:1705.06983] [INSPIRE].
- [60] P.D. Mannheim and A. Davidson, Dirac quantization of the Pais-Uhlenbeck fourth order oscillator, Phys. Rev. A 71 (2005) 042110 [hep-th/0408104] [INSPIRE].
- [61] I.Y. Kobzarev and L.B. Okun, Gravitational Interaction of Fermions, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 43 (1962) 1904 [JETP 16 (1963) 1343] [INSPIRE].
- [62] H. Pagels, Energy-Momentum Structure Form Factors of Particles, Phys. Rev. 144 (1966) 1250 [INSPIRE].
- [63] R.L. Jaffe and A. Manohar, The g₁ Problem: Fact and Fantasy on the Spin of the Proton, Nucl. Phys. B 337 (1990) 509 [INSPIRE].
- [64] M. Abramowitz and I.A. Stegun, Handbook of Mathematical Functions, Dover Publications (1972).